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December

• Close spaced drilling results 
on track for Mineral Resource 
update featuring maiden 
Measured Resources

• PT Indika Energy Tbk (Indika) 
exercised 16.7m options at 
AUD0.35, providing Nusantara  
a further AUD5.8m and 
increasing Indika’s shareholding 
in Nusantara to 28%

September

• Indika became Nusantara’s 
project partner, with 25% 
interest in PT Masmindo DWI 
Area (Masmindo) following 
USD15m investment

June

• 34% increase to Ore Reserves 
estimate following targeted 
exploration success, updated 
Mineral Resources Estimate 
(MRE) and updated open-pit 
mine planning

• Updated economic assessment 
indicates a 240% increase to 
NPV5% to USD517m

May

• Successful placement of 
Nusantara shares to Indika, 
raising AUD3.57m and 
increasing Indika’s shareholding 
in Nusantara to 23%

April

• Successful 2019 drilling 
program shows an 18% increase 
to Mineral Resource Estimate to 
2.35 Moz

March

• Front End Engineering and 
Design Services (FEED) contract 
awarded to PT Petrosea Tbk 
(Petrosea)

February

• Noah’s Rule appointed as 
specialist debt and hedge advisor 
to Masmindo to commence debt 
syndication process

• Project equity agreement for 
Indika to invest USD40m 
in Masmindo for 40% stake 
became binding

2020 HIGHLIGHTS

ANNUAL GENERAL 
MEETING

The Annual General Meeting  
will be held in Melbourne  
on or about 31 May 2021. 

The time and other details 
relating to the meeting will be 
advised in the Notice of Meeting 
to be sent to all shareholders and 
released to the ASX immediately 
upon dispatch.
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CHAIRMAN’S LETTER 

Dear Shareholders

Nusantara’s vision to develop Awak Mas into  
a multi decade, major new gold mine 
progressed well over the year. I would like to 
thank all our staff and stakeholders for the 
tremendous effort and hard work they have 
put in to navigate the Company through these 
uncertain times.

At Nusantara, and our subsidiary PT Masmindo Dwi 
Area (Masmindo), we continue to focus on the safety 
and wellbeing of our people and communities, providing 
our support as the COVID-19 crisis evolves, whilst still 
progressing preparations for the development of the  
Awak Mas Gold Project. Despite the impact of COVID-19 
on the business, I am extremely proud of  
our achievements in 2020. 

The success of our exploration and drilling programme 
has reaffirmed the value of the Awak Mas Gold Project. 
In March/April 2020, we increased our Mineral Resource 
Estimate (MRE) by 18% to 2.35 million ounces of gold 
and our Ore Reserves Estimate (ORE) by 34% to  
1.53 million ounces of gold. With the updated Reserves 
and Resources as well as optimisation improvements, 
we issued a 2020 addendum to our 2018 Definitive 
Feasibility Study which saw the Net Present Value 
(NPV) of the Awak Mas Gold Project increase by 240% 
to USD517m. This study confirms the Awak Mas Gold 
Project is a globally competitive gold project with many 
above average and favourable attributes including mine 
life, open-pit grade and margin (compared with operating 
and feasibility stage gold mines globally).

Nusantara remains focussed on delivering internationally 
competitive capital, funding, and development outcomes, 
and we have made significant progress on the Awak Mas 
Gold Project. The USD11.45m Front End Engineering and 
Design Services (FEED) contract was awarded to Petrosea 
in March 2020. Petrosea had achieved more than 90% 
completion at the end of the year, and we expect the 
contract to be completed and reviewed by the Masmindo 
management team in the second quarter 2021. At 
Masmindo, we have taken important steps to secure 
funding for the project. The first stage investment of 25% 
in Masmindo for USD15m by our partner, Indika, was 
successfully concluded. A Phase 1 Independent Technical 
Expert (ITE) report on the Awak Mas Gold Project was also 
completed which would pave the way for the next stage of 
project financing to commence. 

As 2021 progresses, the focus of the Company will 
be to complete project financing and negotiations for 
the Engineering, Procurement and Construction (EPC) 
contract and advance towards a complete funding 
solution. With the dedication and commitment from our 
team and partners, I believe we are well positioned to 
achieve our targets and deliver an outstanding project. 

Stay safe - tetap aman.

Greg Foulis
Executive Chairman 
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MANAGING DIRECTOR’S LETTER 

Dear Shareholders,

2020 has been a transformational year for 
Nusantara Resources and our Awak Mas Gold 
Project development in South Sulawesi. At the 
peak, we had some 300 people engaging in 
exploration and project investigation activity at 
site and in the community.

We have built in-country corporate, project management 
and site teams with the skills and capabilities to 
deliver the project from the current stage in Front End 
Engineering Design (FEED) and detailed engineering 
design through to construction. 

Our company, and subsidiary PT Masmindo Dwi Area 
(Masmindo), the owner of the Awak Mas Gold Project, 
have been well funded in 2020 with our strategic partner 
PT Indika Energy (Indika), investing USD15m, for a 25% 
project interest. Indika can increase its stake to 40% 
by investing a further USD25m. The company has also 
successfully raised AUD8.8m through listed share options, 
and AUD4.1m from share placements, during the year. 

This supported the award of engineering contracts 
with local partner PT Petrosea Tbk (Petrosea) and the 
progression of established relationships with Australian 
Mining Consultants (AMC), Coffey Services, Golder 
Associates, SRK, DRA Global and other mineral industry 
experts with local expertise.

Masmindo has continuously stepped up with a vision to 
be the next major gold miner in Indonesia. Our exploration 
and drilling programme has shown tremendous success, 
improving our Mineral Resource Estimates and Ore 
Reserve Estimates, and showing potential for a sizeable 
mineralizing system beyond the existing known deposits  
at Awak Mas, Salu Bulo and Tarra. 

We have issued a 2020 Addendum to the Definitive 
Feasibility Study, which has valued the project at an NPV 
of USD517m and IRR of 45%, supported by:

• Mineral Resource Estimate increase of 18% to 2.35 Moz
• Ore reserve estimate increase of 34% to 1.53Moz, 

based on a gold price of USD1,400/oz
• Establishing a 16-year Life of Mine Plan (LOM)
• Optimizing the mine schedule which increased gold 

production for the first 4 years by 20% to an average  
of 128k oz/annum, and

• A 4% grade uplift to 1.58g/t in a maiden Measured 
Resource for the Awak Mas Deposit, a result of a 
successful close-spaced drilling programme.

We have also completed land access surveys, designed 
and lodged our tailings dam application to the Indonesian 

Dam Safety Committee, a process that will lead to our 
remaining key permit application.  

A key area of progress has been in the development 
of a Business Management System that is designed at 
this stage to fully support construction readiness and 
provide a framework to demonstrate a commitment to 
Environmental, Social and Governance, essential for an 
effective and sustainable business, and to comply with the 
national and international expectations of lenders.

I am pleased to report a safe year with no serious injury. 
I am especially proud of the determination and sacrifice 
of all our people who had to work within necessarily strict 
company pandemic policy restrictions.

As we closed out the year with most of the FEED 
investigations nearly completed, we look forward to the 
results and the next steps in funding that will take us to a 
decision to mine the next major gold mine in Indonesia. 

With the support of our highly experienced and dedicated 
team, we continue our rapid transformation from explorer 
to miner and progress the project towards first gold.

Neil Whitaker 
Managing Director
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The Awak Mas Gold Project is 
held under a 7th generation 
Contract of Work (CoW) signed 
with the Government of Indonesia 
(GeOI) in 1998 and Amended 
in March 2018. The CoW covers 
an area of 14,390 hectares and 
is held by PT Masmindo Dwi 
Area (Masmindo), presently 75% 
owned by Nusantara and 25% by 
PT Indika Energy Group.

In November 2019, Indika agreed 
to acquire up to 40% interest in 
Masmindo for USD40m. During 
2020, Indika exercised their right 
under these terms to acquire a 
direct 25% equity interest in 
Masmindo for USD15m. Indika 
has a right to increase its interest 
in the project to 40% through 
investing a further USD25m by 
31 December 2021. 

The amendment to the CoW 
signed in March 2018 reaffirmed 
Masmindo as the legal holder 
of the CoW with the sole rights 
to explore and exploit mineral 
deposits within the CoW area 
until 2050. After this period, the 
operations under the CoW may be 
extended in accordance with the 
prevailing laws and regulations.

The most notable amendments 
to the Masmindo CoW were 
adopting the prevailing rates for 
taxes, prevailing royalty rates and 
a requirement for divestment of 
51% of the shares in Masmindo 
to Indonesian participants, by 
the 10th year of commercial 
production at fair market value. 
The arrangements agreed with 
Indika are a substantial step 
towards satisfying the divestment 
requirements.

The amended CoW provides 
long-term tenure and investment 
stability for the development of 
the Project. It stipulates that 
Masmindo shall be granted the 
sole rights to:

• explore for minerals and mine 
any deposit of minerals found 
in the CoW area

• process, refine, store, and 
transport, by any means, 
minerals extracted, and

• market, sell, or dispose of such 
products from the mines (inside 
and outside Indonesia) after 
carrying out processing and 
refining domestically; and to 
perform all other operations and 
activities necessary.

PROJECT TENURE

COMPANY BACKGROUND

Nusantara Resources Limited (Nusantara) 
is an Australian based, Indonesia focussed 
gold exploration company listed on the 
Australian Securities Exchange.

The Company is focussed on growing 
shareholder value by developing and 
operating gold projects within the Asia-
Pacific region. Nusantara presently owns a 
75% interest in the Awak Mas Gold Project 
(Project), located in the Luwu Regency 
of South Sulawesi Province, Indonesia. 
Nusantara’s partner, Indika, has a right to 
increase its stake in the project to 40%,  
by investing a further USD25m.
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REVIEW OF ACTIVITIES

Overview

During the year, the project development 
activities firmly focussed on initiating and 
advancing  detailed Front End Engineering 
Design (FEED) and associated supporting 
works to advance the technical, financial, 
social work streams and approvals for the  
Awak Mas Gold Project.

The Company activities for the year have been substantial 
both on and off site including: 

• Appointment of key consultants and contractors for  
the FEED, which included PT Petrosea Tbk (Petrosea) 
on 23 March 2020

• Indika became Nusantara’s project partner, with  
25% interest in Masmindo in September 2020

• Updated Mineral Resource Estimate for the Awak 
Mas Gold Project, including the Awak Mas Deposit 
and Satellites Salu Bulo and Tarra, totaling 2.35Moz 
of contained gold. The key changes which resulted in 
substantial growth from the previous estimate were an 
eastward extension of mineralization at the Awak Mas 
Deposit following discovery drilling under the Awak Mas 
Ridge reported on 9 October 2019, as well as a revised 
gold price assumption of USD1,600/oz

• The updated MRE flowed into a revised Ore Reserve 
Estimate (16 June 2020)1 and an Addendum to the 
Definitive Feasibility (29 June 2020)2, which resulted  
in an estimated NPV5% of USD517m

• Completion of extensive field work to support detailed 
design and cost estimates. The most significant site 
works have included close spaced drilling of the initial 
mining areas, topographical surveys and geotechnical 
investigations

• Majority completion of the engineering and design  
with estimating and scheduling to follow in 2021

• Advanced planning and negotiations for key regional 
infrastructure, which includes improvements to 
the main public access road and site grid power 
connection and supply

• Scoping level assessment of potential project expansion 
from 2.5Mtpa to up to 3.9Mtpa.

FEED 

The FEED work is broken down into several, separately 
managed work streams.

Petrosea are undertaking the largest package of FEED 
work covering Earthworks, Processing Plant and 
Infrastructure work streams, with contributions by several 
consultants. Mine Planning is being undertaken by AMC, 
Site Survey is being undertaken by Tigenco, and Tailings 
Stoarge Facility FEED are being undertaken by Coffey.

Close spaced diamond drilling of areas that are targeted for 
first mining production has been managed by Masmindo.

All work streams have progressed substantially and FEED 
is over 90% complete as at 31 December 2020.

COVID-19 pandemic impacts, especially on the completion 
of fieldwork, have flowed into off-site design works.  
Progressive incorporation of field work results into FEED 
have enabled a partial mitigation of delays and despite 
these constraints steady progress has been achieved. 

Permits, Approvals and  
Land Access

Masmindo has continued negotiations with the relevant 
authorities regarding the main site access road 
improvements and alternate community access roads, as 
well as connection and supply of grid power.

The Masmindo land access team has continued to 
work closely with the Project development team for the 
identification and completion of land surveys for acquisition 
prior to project implementation. This work includes 
identification of an optimised LOM project footprint of 
disturbance and land surveys within the CoW boundary. 
Masmindo has commenced formal engagement with the 
regional government and local community. Masmindo 
has also committed to the purchase of a Warehouse and 
Logistics 1.5 Ha land plot near the port of Belopa, Sualwesi. 

The Company has submitted key documents required for 
license compliance and future importation requirements 
during the year to support the necessary key GOI 
approvals to implement the Awak Mas Gold Project.

All Major Project permitting is in place with Masmindo 
holding key licenses and permits to conduct its operations 
such as its environmental permit and the license for 
its Operation and Production which provides approval 
for construction. Permits required for certain specific 
construction activities such the Tailings Storage Facility 
(TSF) are in progress.

1. ASX Announcement – Ore reserves Increased by 34% to 1.53M Ounces,  
16 June 2020

2. ASX Announcement – Awak Mas NPV Increases by 240% to USD517M,  
29 June 2020

 NUSANTARA RESOURCES LiMiTED  2020 ANNUAL REPORT 5



REVIEW OF ACTIVITIES

Post FEED Activities

The Company has commenced necessary preparations  
to complete a comprehensive Post FEED Report (PFR)  
in 2021 that may be used for financing purposes as part 
of the independent technical assessments of the Awak 
Mas Gold Project. The PFR 2021 shall bring together  
the culmination of over 12 months’ work in areas of 
technical, financial, social and approvals.

Exploration Activity 

The exploration focus in 2020 was split between gaining 
a better understanding of the mineralisation discovered 
by Nusantara beneath the Awak Mas Ridge, and close 
spaced drilling in areas that are targeted for first mining 
production, and collection of detailed geophysics to better 
target future exploration in the near mine area.

Nusantara’s re-interpretation of Awak Mas geology 
in 2017 and 2018 identified a target for extension of 
mineralisation to the east of the Awak Mas Deposit, which 
had not been tested by previous project owners. Drilling 
in 2019 (reported 9 October 2019)3 extended Awak Mas 
mineralisation to the east, with a high-grade intersection  
of 63.7m at 2.12g/t gold beneath the Awak Mas ridge.  

A substantial increase in Resources (as reported 28 April 
2020)4 was achieved through the application of updated 
and modified geology, input and reporting parameters 
plus the inclusion of the successful Awak Mas Ridge 
drilling results. The Project MRE saw an 18% increase  
to 2.35Moz Au.

3. ASX Announcement – Exploration Update Set-Out Drilling at Awak Mas,  
09 October 2019

4. ASX Announcement – Mineral Resources Increases 18% to 2.35M Ounces,  
28 April 2020

5. ASX Announcement – Exploration Update Set-out Drilling at Awak Mas,  
09 October 2019

Figure 1: Cross Section 9,627,475mN through the Awak Mas 
Deposit demonstrating the significant increase in MRE between 
previous May 2018 and April 2020 Pit Shells and the location of the 
HWD006 drill intersection (refer ASX Release Exploration Update, 
Step-out Drilling at Awak Mas intersects 63.7m at 2.12g/t Au, dated 
9 October 2019)5.
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Close spaced diamond drilling commenced in the 
third quarter as part of Nusantara’s de-risking strategy 
by improving the drilling density and geological 
understanding in areas that are targeted for first mining 
production. The program of approximately 12,300m 
was designed with the intention of delineating a high 
confidence maiden Measured Resource. Measured 
Resources would then be available for potential 
conversion to Proven Reserves.

Close spaced drilling was largely completed within the 
Awak Mas Deposit in 2020, with results announced for 
Tanjung (15 December 2020)6. The balance of the Awak 
Mas Deposit drilling results, from the Mapacing area, 
were announced post year end on 10 February 2021 and 
a maiden Measured Mineral Resource for the Awak Mas 
Deposit on 16 March 2021. Drilling results and a Mineral 
Resource Estimate for the satellite deposit Salu Bulo are 
expected in 2021.

During the fourth quarter, Nusantara embarked on a 
CoW-wide assessment of geological prospectivity. This 
was largely in response to the success of the near-mine 
geophysics IP program conducted at Salu Bulo in 2019, 
which highlighted near-mine targets and led to a broader 
deployment of IP surveys in the near mine area, but also 
highlighted the urgency of conducting a thorough review 
of historic exploration work and data prior to developing  
a mine and installing infrastructure. 

Mineral Resource

The Mineral Resource Estimates (MRE) for the Awak Mas 
Gold Project are tabulated below as at 31 December 2020 
based on the April 2020 MRE update.

In March 2021, the Company announced a successful 
close-spaced diamond drilling campaign which generated 
the maiden Measured Resource at the Awak Mas Deposit, 
with a 4% grade uplift for Measured and Indicated 
Resources and a high grade (1.58g/t Au) Measures 
Resources. The table below shows the update to the 
Mineral Resource Statement for the Awak Mas Deposit.

REVIEW OF ACTIVITIES

 Classification Tonnes  
(Mt)

Gold Grade  
(g/t)

Contained 
Gold (Moz)

Awak Mas 

Measured - - -

Indicated 41.2 1.37 1.81

Inferred 6.1 1.11 0.22

Sub-Total 47.3 1.34 2.03

Salu Bulo 

Measured - - -

Indicated 3.0 1.68 0.16

Inferred 0.7 1.07 0.02

Sub-Total 3.7 1.56 0.19

Tarra 

Measured - - -

Indicated - - -

Inferred 3.0 1.29 0.13

Sub-Total 3.0 1.29 0.13

Total 

Measured - - -

Indicated 44.2 1.39 1.97

Inferred 9.8 1.16 0.37

Total 54.0 1.35 2.35

Table 1: April 2020 MRE reported inside USD1,600/oz constraining 
shell above 0.5g/t Cut-off7  

Table 2: Updated Awak Mas Deposit Resource Statement reported 
inside USD1,600/oz constraining shell above 0.5g/t Cut-off8  

 Classification Tonnes  
(Mt)

Gold Grade  
(g/t)

Contained 
Gold (Moz)

Awak Mas
(Mar 2021) 

Measured 2.2 1.58 0.11

Indicated 36.5 1.41 1.66

Inferred 5.9 1.10 0.21

Sub-Total 44.6 1.38 1.97
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Ore Reserve

In June 2020, the Company announced a significant 
increase in Awak Mas Gold Project Ore Reserves Estimates 
(ORE), following targeted exploration success, updated 
Mineral Resources estimation, updated open-pit mine 
planning, and a sustained increase in gold price. The 
table below shows the Ore Reserve Estimates as of 
31December 2020, based on the June 2020 ORE update.

REVIEW OF ACTIVITIES

6. ASX Announcement – Closed Spaced Drilling and Exploration Geophysics 
Update, 15 December 2020

7. ASX Announcement – Mineral Resource increases 18% to 2.35M Ounces,  
28 April 2020 

8. ASX Announcement – Successful Closed Spaced Diamond Drilling Campaign 
Generates Maiden Measured Resources at Awak Mas, 16 March 2021

9. ASX Announcement – Ore reserves Increased by 34% to 1.53M Ounces,  
16 June 2020

Table 3: Awak Mas Project Mineral Resource Statement, including 
March 2021 updated estimate for the Awak Mas Deposit (Salu Bulo and 
Tarra Estimates remain unchanged from April 2020).  

 Deposit
Tonnes  
(Mt)

Gold Grade  
(g/t)

Contained 
Gold (Moz)

Awak Mas (Mar 2021) 44.6 1.38 1.97

Salu Bulo (Apr 2020) 3.7 1.56 0.19

Tarra (Apr 2020) 3.0 1.29 0.13

Total 51.3 1.39 2.28

 Classification Tonnes  
(Mt)

Gold Grade  
(g/t)

Contained 
Gold (Moz)

Awak Mas 
Proved - - -

Probable 32.7 1.30 1.37

Sub-Total 32.7 1.30 1.37

Salu Bulo 
Proved - - -

Probable 2.9 1.66 0.16

Sub-Total 2.9 1.66 0.16

Total 
Proved - - -

Probable 35.6 1.33 1.53

TOTAL 35.6 1.33 1.53

Table 4: June 2020 ORE reported inside USD1,400/oz constraining shell 
above 0.5g/t Cut-off9  
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REVIEW OF ACTIVITIES 

Sustainability

Sustainability is at the core of our business as we are 
committed to contribute to the development of both the 
local and national economy, applying high standards in 
environment protection and improving the welfare of  
our employees and the community surrounding our  
areas of operations.

Environmental, social and governance (ESG) forms the 
basis for the development our Business Management 
Systems (BMS). The work includes references to 
Indonesian regulations and internationally recognized 
standards. ESG is a component of our approach to 
sustainability. The Development of the Company’s 
Business Management Systems has progressed in  
2020 which will be completed for construction  
readiness in 2021.  

Our commitment to building a sustainable business is 
reflected in our vision, missions and values, which  
guides our business practices.

Environmental

The Company’s environmental plan complies with 
prevailing laws and regulations on environmental 
protection.

The Company actively seeks to protect the environment  
in which it operates, with environmental monitoring 
activities and programs including rainfall data collection, 
ground and surface water monitoring, revegetation 
programs and waste removal.

Several environmental baseline studies have been 
completed in the past and the Company continually 
updates its environmental database for the CoW and 
surrounding area. Environmental monitoring is conducted 
for Surface Water quality; Hydrology; Meteorology; 
Ambient Air Quality and Noise; Terrestrial Flora and 
Fauna; and Aquatic Ecology.

During the year, the Company maintained regular 
monitoring programs and continued to evaluate areas  
for improvement. These monitoring programs include:

• Surface Water Quality samples undertaken at 13 
monitoring points for dissolved metals, anions, 
nutrients, organics, microbiological and physicals

• Hydrology monitoring undertaken at 12 monitoring 
points to assess stream velocity and stream cross 
sections

VISION

To become the next Indonesian  
gold producer

MISSION

• Build and Operate Awak Mas
• Improve and Grow Awak Mas
• Grow our people and our Business

Our Values of Caring, Integrity, 
Teamwork, Accountability and 
Excellence guide our behaviour  
and business practices. 
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REVIEW OF ACTIVITIES 

• Meteorology monitoring conducted through an 
automated weather station for temperature; wind speed 
and direction; and relative humidity, while rainfall is 
conducted by a manual rain gauge and evaporation 
rates assessed and recorded

• Ambient Air Quality and Noise assessed at 4  
monitoring points

• Flora and Fauna assessment conducted every  
6 months from 3 locations, and

• Aquatic Ecology monitoring undertaken every  
6 months from 3 locations.

The Company continues its agricultural replantation 
program to replace crops disturbed during site activities. 
The Company also developed a hazardous waste removal 
system.

Community

We are committed to working with local communities to 
achieve mutual benefits and positive outcomes from our 
operations.

The Company focusses on five main areas for 
community engagement and support: education, 
health, infrastructure, local recruitment and economic 
empowerment.

The Company provides targeted support within 
neighbouring communities, including continued support 
to the elementary school in Boneposi village; the 
construction of which was supported by Masmindo.

The Company purchases local supplies, recruits local 
people and contractors wherever possible, and continues 
to generate important employment opportunities which 
support the ongoing and collective growth of Indonesia.

The Company supports medical facilities in the project 
area and expanded its health initiatives due to the 
outbreak of COVID-19. The Company implemented 
community education and awareness programs for 
COVID-19 and supported local community organizations 
and medical facilities with donations of medical supplies 
to help detect and prevent the spread of COVID-19. 
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People 

Nusantara recognises that our employees are our greatest 
asset and our present and future success is shaped upon 
the Company having talented and motivated employees 
in the right roles at the right time. Nusantara is committed 
to providing opportunities for skilled people from the local 
communities in which we operate as well as employing 
talents with highly sought-after skills across Indonesia.

The project attracted exceptional talent during the year 
with the successful recruitment and onboarding of key 
project and corporate services personnel despite the 
extended COVID-19 pandemic situation. Additional 
resources in support of the accelerated programs 
for exploration geology, external affairs and project 
development were sourced as required. 

Nusantara prides itself on compliance with the national, 
regional and local Manpower regulations, covering 
compensation and benefits, social security, working 
and rest time, health and safety, and training. A HR 
compliance review was conducted in Q1 2020 covering 
the above with a satisfactory result achieved.

Management and the Human Capital department 
maintained vigilance in monitoring and providing 
ongoing support for the health and welfare of employees 
throughout the COVID-19 pandemic, including regular 
screening and conducting of annual medical check-ups 
for all site employees in Q3 2020 to ensure that the  
health and fitness for work is maintained.

REVIEW OF ACTIVITIES 
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REVIEW OF ACTIVITIES

Safety, Quality and Security

Safety remains our highest priority and we attach great 
importance to the health of our employees. Employees 
must pass a full medical check-up before they are 
recruited and throughout their work, their health and 
fitness are monitored. 

Nusantara has continually been developing its the HSE 
Management System and standard operating procedures 
for health and safety that encourages workers to be 
vigilant at work, risk aware and highlights the notion that 
anyone has the right to stop any unsafe act, at any time.

Due to the recent COVID-19 pandemic, our Incident 
and Business Continuity Management Plan triggered the 
activation of our Crisis Management Team (CMT) and the 
formation of policy. Through evaluation, scenario planning 
and proactive leadership, we have developed plans and 
guidelines to provide for the safety and wellbeing of all 
our people, assisting local communities and maintaining 
business continuity with proactive actions to Minimise 
Operational Risk Exposure (MORE).

Nusantara is committed to meet the requirements 
of International Good Mining Practice all phases of 
project development including mine safety, environment 
management, mineral conservation, planning 
construction, mine and mineral processing, design and 
operations as well as post-mine management.

The Company holds routine industry standard toolbox 
and safety meetings with our people to reinforce our 
safety framework. Annual Safety Audits are conducted 
which guide us to achieve a safe work environment as we 
constantly lift our standards as the Company progress on 
its development path.

All site activities are assessed for risk and controls with 
increased supervision as required. Nusantara maintains 
an onsite medical clinic and all-wheel drive ambulance to 
undertake medical support services at site. Several local 
paramedics and a GP are onsite to ensure that all site 
activities have medical support available.

COVID-19 infection rates increased in the Luwu Regency 
in December 2020, with the Company experiencing an 
increase in infections at, or around, site in December 
2020 and January 2021. While infections are again 
under control, sadly, one of our site workers who had 
tested positive to COVID-19, passed away due to health 
complications associated with asthma; Nusantara wishes 
to express our deepest condolences to the family.

As part of our safety framework, we strive to ensure that 
our workplace remains safe by implementing appropriate 
security measures. Qualified security personnel have  
been recruited and security posts are in place to monitor 
and check all incoming personnel and visitors to site.  
All people coming to and from site are formally reported 
and documented.

During 2020, the Company engaged independent security 
advisors, Concord Consulting to update the previous 
Threat Assessment and Risk Analysis and for assistance 
to develop our Security Management Plans as part of our 
Business Management Systems Development. 

We will continue to strive to meet our very high operating 
standard to achieve a safe and healthy working 
environment.
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REVIEW OF ACTIVITIES

10. ASX Announcement – Project Financing Advances and Indika welcomed,  
17 September 2020

11. ASX Announcement – Option Exercise Provides Nusantara With a further 
AUD5.8m, 02 December 2020 

Finance and Corporate

2020 saw the establishment and deepening  
of our partnership with Indika. Indika became 
our project partner with the successful 
completion of the stage 1 investment of 
USD15m by Indika for 25% of the Project 
(September 2020)10. 

Indika also exercised 16.7 million options at  
AUD0.35/share, providing the Company with an additional 
AUD5.8m (December 2020)11. Following the exercise 
of the options, Indika became the Company’s largest 
shareholder at 28%.

A Phase 1 Independent Technical Expert (ITE) report 
was completed in September 2020. The ITE established 
several recommendations that are being addressed 
in the 2020 project work plan. Completion of these 
recommendations will allow the commencement of,  
and guide, the current phase of work that required to 
develop and execute the project. 

The Company has engaged with a group of international 
banks to initiate discussions on project financing.  
As we conclude the FEED contract, we expect to  
progress our discussions with them and other financiers  
to achieve a holistic project funding solution.

At 31 December 2020, the Company had USD 
16,503,255 cash on hand, with 229,273,007 fully 
paid shares on issue and 27,300,000 unlisted options 
(exercisable between AUD0.35 and AUD0.61 and 
expiring between 27 July 2021 and 01 July 2024)  
and performance rights on issue.

Corporate Governance

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards 
of corporate governance in the performance of our duties 
and upholding investor confidence in the operations of  
the business.

The Company’s corporate governance statement can  
also be viewed at the following URL: 
http://nusantararesources.com/corporate-governance/

Complete details of the Company’s corporate governance 
policies are available on the Company’s website at:
www.nusantararesources.com
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for the year ended 31 December 2020

• Directors’ Report

• Auditor’s Independence Declaration to the Directors of Nusantara Resources Limited

• Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year Ended 31 December 2020

• Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2020

• Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the Year Ended 31 December 2020

• Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the Year Ended 31 December 2020

• Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

• Director’s Declaration

• Auditor’s Report 

ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT
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The Directors present their report together with the 
financial statements for Nusantara Resources Limited 
(‘Nusantara’ or ‘the Company’) and its controlled entities 
(collectively the ‘Group’), for the financial year ended  
31 December 2020. The presentation currency for 
the Group is United States dollars (USD). The closing 
exchange rate applied to convert Australian dollar (AUD) 
balances to USD at 31 December 2020 was 0.770 (2019: 
0.701) and the average exchange rate applied for the year 
ended 31 December 2020 was 0.691 (2019: 0.695).

Directors
The following persons held the office of Director during 
the year ended 31 December 2020 and to the date of this 
report unless otherwise stated:

• Greg Foulis – Chairman
• Neil Whitaker  – Managing Director
 appointed as Managing Director 29 May 2020 
• Robert Hogarth  – Director
• Richard Ness1  – Director
• Robin Widdup2  – Director
• Kamen Palatov1  – Director 

appointed as a Director 10 July 2020 
• Boyke Abidin  – Director  

ceased as a Director 10 July 2020 
1. Mr Kamen Palatov was alternate Director for Mr Richard Ness until his 

appointment as Director 10 July 2020
2. Mr Craig Smyth is alternate Director for Mr Robin Widdup 

Directors interests in the shares and options of the 
Company and related bodies corporate
As at 23 March 2021, the interests of the Directors in the 
shares and options of Nusantara Resources Limited were:

 
1. Mr Ness is a Commissioner of PT Indika Energy Tbk which at 31 December 

2020 held 16,871,100 ordinary shares and 25% non-controlling interest of 
subsidiary PT Masmindo Dwi Area.  

2. Mr Widdup is a Director of Lion Manager Pty Ltd which at 31 December 2020 held 
150,000 shares and 737,500 options (including 295,0003 incentive options granted 
to Mr Widdup and reported above). Mr Widdup is also a director of Lion Selection 
Group Limited which at 31 December 2020 held 49,904,775 ordinary shares.

3. 295,000 incentive options were granted to Mr Widdup’s nominee Lion Manager 
Pty Ltd in 2018 and included in the above total.

4. Mr Palatov is Chief Portfolio Management Officer at PT Indika Energy Tbk 
which at 31 December 2020 held 16,871,100 ordinary shares and 25% non-
controlling interest of subsidiary PT Masmindo Dwi Area. 

5. Mr Smyth is a Director of Lion Manager Pty Ltd which at 31 December 2020 
held 150,000 shares and 737,500 options. Mr Smyth is Chief Executive Officer 
of Lion Selection Group Limited which at 31 December 2020 held 49,904,775 
ordinary shares.

Company Secretary
Mr Derek Humphry held the office of company secretary 
during the year until his resignation 30 September 2020.  
Ms Claire Newstead-Sinclair, of Leydin Freyer, held the 
office of company secretary from 23 September 2020.

Principal Activities and Significant Changes  
in the Nature of Activities
The principal activities of the Group during the financial 
year continued to be gold exploration, evaluation and 
development focusing on the Awak Mas Gold Project in 
South Sulawesi, Indonesia. 

Operating Results
The consolidated loss of the Group was USD 2,877,374 
after providing for income tax (2019: loss of USD 
2,398,821).

During the year the Group continued its ongoing 
exploration,  evaluation  and development work on the 
75% owned Awak Mas Gold Project (the Project) under a 
Contract of Work (‘CoW’).  

Major milestones achieved during the year included:

• Partner PT Indika Energy Tbk. (Indika) earned  
25% interest in the Project vehicle following it’s first 
stage investment of USD 15M equity;

• Delivery of the 2020 Addendum to the 2018 Definitive 
Feasibility Study for the Project in Q2 2020, with 
substantial increases to Resources (Mineral Resource 
estimate increased by 18% to 2.35M ounces gold), 
Reserves (Ore Reserve estimate increased by  
34% to 1.53M ounces) and much improved Project 
financial metrics;

• Completion of the Independent Technical Experts (ITE) 
report on the Project to support project financing

• Front End Engineering and Design (FEED) at 90% 
completion at year end, including close space drilling 
and geotechnical drilling;

• Jakarta based Chief Executive Officer, Mr Neil Whitaker, 
appointed Managing Director;

• Appointment of experienced mining investment banker 
Matthew Doube as Chief Financial Officer, bringing high 
level capability to deliver financing for the Project;

• 50% of third-party royalty extinguished; and
• Early CAPEX contract awarded:  USD 11.45M 

Engineering (FEED).

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Director Name Number of  
Ordinary shares

Number of  
Options

Greg Foulis 477,390 945,000

Neil Whitaker 137,561 1,700,000

Robert Hogarth - 295,000

Richard Ness1 - -

Robin Widdup2 1,884,111  295,0003 

Kamen Palatov4 450,000 -

Craig Smyth5 
Alternate director to Mr Widdup

763,725 -
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Financial Position
The net assets of the Group have increased by USD 
22,903,409 from USD 43,467,935 at 31 December 2019 
to USD 66,371,345 as at 31 December 2020. 

Significant Changes in State of Affairs
There are no significant changes in the state of affairs 
of the Group during the financial year, other than as 
disclosed in the Directors’ Report. 

Dividends Paid or Recommended
No dividend has been declared or paid by the Group.  
The Directors do not recommend the payment of a 
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Significant Events After Reporting Date
The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic announced by 
the World Health Organisation in 2020 is ongoing and 
while it has not been directly financially negative for the 
Group up to 31 December 2020, it is not practicable 
to estimate the potential impact, positive or negative, 
after the reporting date. The Company has developed 
a policy and procedures to address the health and 
wellbeing of employees, consultants and contractors 
in relation to COVID-19. The situation is dependant on 
measures imposed by the Australian Government and 
other countries, such as maintaining social distancing 
requirements, quarantine, travel restrictions and any 
economic stimulus that may be provided.

Other than these matters, no matters have arisen since 
the end of the financial year to the date of this report of 
a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of 
the Directors, to affect significantly the operations of the 
Group, the results of those operations, or the state of 
affairs of the Group in future financial years.

Likely Future Developments
The Group’s primary strategy will continue to focus on 
exploration, evaluation and development activities at the 
Awak Mas Gold Project.

Information on Directors

Greg Foulis 
Chairman (appointed 29 March 2018)

Greg is a Resource Sector – Finance Executive with +35 
years of diverse international experience and is currently 
Chairman of Nusantara Resources, Chairman of Kin-
Gin Exploration and Advisor to Toronto based Paradigm 
Capital.  He has a track record in finance and mining 
across a variety of roles ranging from Board, CEO, 
Business Development and Investment Advisory. Senior 
roles with multi-nationals include Kingsgate, AngloGold 
and Deutsche bank.

Greg received an M.Comm (Finance) from the University 
of NSW in 1992 and a B.AppSc. (Hons) in Geology 
from the NSW Institute of Technology in 1984. He is a 
Graduate Member of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors and a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Mining 
and Metallurgy.

Neil Whitaker 
Director (appointed 24 September 2019)

Neil has over 40 years’ experience in the mining sector 
and has held operating and senior executive roles with 
companies such as Anglo American, WMC Resources, 
Newcrest Mining, Clough Ltd and their Indonesian 
subsidiary PT Petrosea Tbk. Neil has extensive 
international board and operating experience with a 
demonstrated background in leading resource companies 
through the transitional stages of the full project life cycle. 
Having previously worked in the Asia-Pacific region as the 
Chief Operating Officer for PT Petrosea Tbk and with our 
Indonesian strategic partner Indika Energy, Neil has the 
relevant local knowledge and experience to lead the Awak 
Mas Gold Project through the next phases of development.

Rob Hogarth   
Director (appointed 17 February 2017)

Rob Hogarth built his mining industry expertise during 
a 37-year career with KPMG where he was leader of 
KPMG’s Energy and Natural Resources and Major 
Projects Advisory Practices and lead partner for many 
of the firm’s listed mining clients working with large and 
small companies in the Asia Pacific region. He has been 
involved with Indonesia since 1983. Since retiring from 
KPMG in 2009 he has become a Non-Executive Director 
of a range of companies, including AMC Consultants, and 
sits on a number of audit and risk committees.

Rob is also the Independent Chair of the Risk and Audit 
Committee of the Environment Protection Authority 
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of Victoria and a Non-Executive Director of Nustream 
Investments Limited and PR Exploration Pty Ltd. He was 
a Non-Executive Director of Dart Mining NL from February 
2014 to June 2015.

Rob holds a Bachelor of Economics (Accounting and 
Business Law) and is a Fellow, Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in Australia.

Richard Ness 
Director (appointed 13 December 2018)

Richard is a mining executive based in Indonesia, with 
over 38 years of professional experience in the energy, 
mineral resources and mining sectors. Richard has held 
senior executive positions at Newmont Indonesia and 
Freeport Indonesia; and currently serves as the President 
Commissioner of PT Petrosea Tbk and Commissioner of 
PT Indika Energy Tbk. Richard is also the former Vice 
President and Chief Executive Officer at PT Merdeka 
Copper Gold Tbk, which recently commissioned, and 
now runs, the successful Tujuh Bukit gold project in Java, 
Indonesia.

Robin Widdup 
Director (appointed 28 February 2018)

Robin is the Founder and a Director of the Company’s 
second largest shareholder, Lion Selection Group Limited.  
Robin has 40 years of mining industry and equity market 
experience. He is currently Managing Director of Lion 
Manager, Director of Lion Selection Group Limited 
(appointed January 2011), and Chairman of Celamin 
Holdings Limited.

Kamen Palatov
Director (appointed 10 July 2020)

Kamen is a Financing Specialist and currently a Director 
at PT Indika Energy Tbk., based in Indonesia. Mr Palatov 
studied at Franklin and Marshall College, Pennsylvania 
before earning his MBA double degree from HEC School 
of Management, Paris / The Chinese University of Hong 
Kong. Kamen has been with PT Indika Energy Tbk. since 
2011 and holds a number of roles with Indika related 
companies. His previous experience has seen him hold 
positions with McKinsey & Co., Bear Stearns and the 
Northern Trust Company. 

Meetings of the Board
The Board of Directors held nine meetings during the year 
ended 31 December 2020. Attendances of Directors at 
these meetings are shown in the table below:

In addition fourteen (14) circular resolutions were resolved 
during the year. All circular resolutions were ratified at 
subsequent Board meetings.

Indemnification of Directors and Officers
Under the Constitution of the Company every officer (and 
former officer) of the Company is indemnified, to the 
extent permitted by law, against all costs expenses and 
liabilities incurred as such by an officer providing it is in 
respect of a liability to another person (other than the 
Company or a related body corporate) where such liability 
does not arise out of conduct involving a lack of good 
faith and is in respect of a liability for costs and expenses 
incurred in defending proceedings in which judgment 
is given in favour of the officer or in which the officer is 
acquitted or is granted relief under the Law. 

Proceedings on Behalf of Company
No person has applied for leave of Court to bring 
proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene in 
proceedings to which the Company is a party for the 
purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company 
for all or any part of those proceedings.

Director Meetings  
attended

Number eligible 
to attend

Mr Greg Foulis 9 9

Mr Rob Hogarth 9 9

Mr Robin Widdup 9 9

Mr Richard Ness 9 9

Mr Neil Whitaker 9 9

Mr Boyke Abidin 5 5

Mr Kamen Palatov 8 9

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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Share Options and Performance Rights
At 31 December 2020, the unissued ordinary shares of 
Nusantara under option are as follows:

Option holders do not have any right, by virtue of the 
option, to participate in any share issue of the Company or 
any related body corporate.

Shares issued as a result of the exercise of options
During the year 7,980,914 listed options and 7,042,767 
unlisted options were forfeited and 10,053,393 listed 
options and 16,693,711 unlisted options were exercised.

Non – Audit services
The Board of Directors is satisfied that the provision of 
non-audit services during the year is compatible with the 
general standard of independence for auditors imposed 
by the Corporations Act 2001. The Directors are satisfied 
that any services disclosed below did not compromise the 
external auditor’s independence for the following reasons:

• all non-audit services are reviewed and approved by 
Directors prior to commencement to ensure they do 
not adversely affect the integrity and objectivity of the 
auditor; and

• the nature of the services provided do not compromise 
the general principles relating to auditor independence 
in accordance with APES 110: Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants set by the Accounting 
Professional and Ethical Standards Board.

No fees were paid to BDO for non-audit services provided 
during the year ended 31 December 2020. Ernst and 
Young received USD 2,073 for Employee Share Scheme 
review (31 December 2019: USD 10,274 was paid for 
non-audit services).

Environmental Regulations and Performance
The Group’s operations are subject to significant 
environmental regulation under the laws of Indonesia. The 
Directors are not aware of any breaches of the legislation 
during the financial year that are material in nature.

Auditor’s Independence Declaration
The auditor’s independence declaration as required under 
section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 for the year 
ended 31 December 2020 is set out on page 27 and 
forms part of this report.

Grant Date Expiry Date
Exercise  

Price  
(AUD)

Listed  
Options

Unlisted  
Options & 

Performance 
rights

18/11/2020 31/12/2023
*Performance 

rights - 2,000,000

02/09/2020 01/12/2022 $0.61 - 10,000,000

02/09/2020 01/07/2022 $0.45 - 3,000,000

02/09/2020 01/07/2024 $0.45 - 7,000,000

06/11/2019 11/07/2022 $0.35 - 500,000

06/11/2019 26/08/2022 $0.35 - 566,610

06/11/2019 26/08/2022 $0.42 - 1,133,390

04/06/2018 27/07/2021 $0.61 - 740,000

28/07/2017 02/08/2021 $0.61 - 2,360,000

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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Remuneration Report (Audited)
The Directors of Nusantara present the Remuneration 
Report (the Report) for the Company and its controlled 
entities for the year ended 31 December 2020. This Report 
forms part of the Directors’ Report and has been audited 
in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 
2001. The Report details the remuneration arrangements 
for Nusantara’s key management personnel (KMP):

• Non-executive Directors
• Executive Directors and senior executives  

(collectively the executives).

KMP are those persons who, directly or indirectly, have 
authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 
controlling the major activities of the Company and Group.  
The table below outlines the KMP of the Group and their 
movements during 2020:

Remuneration Policy
The full Board fulfils the roles of remuneration  
committee and is governed by the Group’s adopted 
remuneration policy. This policy governs the operations  
of the Board. The Board reviews and reassesses the  
policy at least annually.

General Director Remuneration
Shareholder approval must be obtained in relation to the 
overall limit set for Non Executive Directors’ fees, currently 
AUD 250,000 per year.  The Directors shall set individual 
Board fees within the limit approved by shareholders.

Shareholders must also approve the framework for any 
broad-based equity based compensation schemes and  
if a recommendation is made for a Director to participate 
in an equity scheme, that participation must be approved 
by the shareholders.

Key Management Person Position Term as KMP

Non-Executive Directors

Greg Foulis Non-Executive Chair Appointed 29 March 2018

Rob Hogarth Non-Executive Director Appointed 17 February 2017

Robin Widdup Non-Executive Director Appointed 28 February 2018

Richard Ness Non-Executive Director Appointed 13 December 2018

Kamen Palatov Non-Executive Director Appointed 10 July 2020

Executive Directors

Greg Foulis Executive Chairman Role ceased 29 May 2020

Neil Whitaker
Chief Executive Officer 
Managing Director

Appointed 26 August 2019 
Appointed 29 May 2020

Other Key Management Personnel

Boyke Abidin President Director of PT Masmindo Dwi Area
Ceased as a Director of Nusantara  
Resources Ltd 10 July 2020

Colin McMillan General Manager Geology Appointed 1 February 2017

Derek Humphry
Chief Financial Officer 
Company Secretary

Ceased 30 September 2020
Ceased 30 September 2020

Matthew Doube Chief Financial Officer Appointed 2 November 2020

Claire Newstead-Sinclair Company Secretary Appointed 23 September 2020

Craig Smyth
Finance Committee 
Interim Chief Financial Officer

Appointed 16 July 2020
Appointed 1 October 2020

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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2020 
Key Management Person

Short Term 
Benefits  

Salaries/Fees

Non-monetary 
Benefits

Post-Employment 
Superannuation

Share Based 
Payment–Options/

Performance Rights
Total Performance 

Related

Directors USD USD USD USD USD %

Greg Foulis1 30,501 - 2,898 1,482 34,880 4.2

Rob Hogarth 31,551 - 2,997 2,708 37,257 7.3

Robin Widdup 34,550 - - 982 35,532 2.8

Richard Ness 34,550 - - - 34,550 -

Kamen Palatov 3 19,482 - - - 19,482 -

Executive Directors

Neil Whitaker2 237,777 21,359 13,758 93,987 366,881 25.6

Boyke Abidin 94,440 2,890 - 4,062 101,392 4.1

Greg Foulis1 42,950 - - - 42,950 -

Other Key Management Personnel

Colin McMillan 172,758 - 1,209 5,416 179,384 3

Derek Humphry 155,073 - 12,956 3,208 171,237 1.9

Matthew Doube 39,157 - - 10,8324 49,989 21.7

Claire Newstead-Sinclair 12,438 - - - 12,438 -

Craig Smyth 23,350 - - 4,062 27,412 14.8

928,577 24,249 33,819 126,741 1,113,383

1. Mr Foulis ceased as temporary Executive Chairman 29 May 2020. Remuneration for this Executive role is shown separately from Director fees.
2. Mr Whitaker was appointed Managing Director on 29 May 2020.
3. Mr Palatov was appointed Director 10 July 2020.
4. Mr Doube’s share based payment related to performance rights. 

Executive Remuneration
The Group’s remuneration policy for Executive Directors 
and senior management is designed to promote superior 
performance and long-term commitment to the Group.  
Executives receive a base remuneration which is market 
related, and may be entitled to performance based 
remuneration at the ultimate discretion of the Board.

Overall remuneration policies are subject to the discretion 
of the Board and can be changed to reflect competitive 
market and business conditions where it is in the interests 
of the Group and shareholders to do so.

Executive remuneration and other terms of employment 
are reviewed annually by the Board having regard to 
performance, relevant comparative information and  
expert advice.

The Board’s reward policy reflects its obligations to align 
executive’s remuneration with shareholders’ interests and 
to retain appropriately qualified executive talent for the 
benefit of the Group. The main principles of the policy are:

(a) Reward reflects the competitive market in which  
the Group operates;

(b) Individual reward should be linked to performance 
criteria; and

(c) Executives should be rewarded for both financial  
and non-financial performance.

Details of Remuneration for Year Ended 31 December 2020

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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2019 
Key Management Person

Short Term Benefits  
Salaries/Fees

Post-Employment 
Superannuation

Share Based 
Payment–Options Total Performance  

Related

Directors USD USD USD USD %

Rob Hogarth 31,734 3,015 8,868 43,617 20.3

Robin Widdup 34,750 - 3,352 38,102 8.8

Richard Ness 34,550 - - 34,550 -

Executive Directors

Greg Foulis1 138,868 1,507 67,179 207,554 32.4

Boyke Abidin 99,977 - 13,302 113,279 11.7

Neil Whitaker2 83,564 - 17,134 100,698 17.0

Mike Spreadborough3 191,962 8,324 - 200,286 -

Other Key Management Personnel

Colin McMillan 159,317 14,433 17,736 191,486 9.3

Derek Humphry 173,250 17,375 10,947 201,572 5.4

Craig Smyth4 13,302 - - 13,302 -

961,292 44,654 138,518 1,144,464 -

1. Mr Foulis became temporary Executive Chairman 1 May 2019 following the resignation of the previous Managing Director.
2. Mr Whitaker commenced as Chief Executive Officer on 26 August 2019 and as a Director on 24 September 2019.
3. Mr Spreadborough resigned as a Director 1 May 2019.
4. Mr Smyth was not considered a Key Management Person for FY2019.  However, upon reassessment, he is now considered a Key Management Person for FY2020, 

therefore comparative remuneration information for FY2019 has now been included.

Details of Remuneration for Year Ended 31 December 2019

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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2020 
Key Management Person

Opening Balance 
1/1/2020 Resignation Shares

Acquired 2020
Shares Disposed 

2020
Closing Balance 

31/12/2020

Neil Whitaker 53,786 83,775 - 137,561

Boyke Abidin1 165,235 - - 165,235

Rob Hogarth - - - -

Greg Foulis 284,993 192,397 - 477,390

Robin Widdup 1,366,068 518,043 - 1,884,111

Richard Ness - - - -

Kamen Palatov2 100,000 350,000 - 450,000

Colin McMillan - - - -

Derek Humphry3 - - - - -

Matthew Doube4 - - - -

Claire Newstead-Sinclair5 - - - -

Craig Smyth6 574,894 188,831 - 763,725

2,544,976 - 1,333,046 - 3,878,022

1. Mr Abidin ceased as a Director 10 July 2020, and remains President Director of PT Masmindo Dwi Area.
2.  Mr Palatov was Alternate Director for Mr Richard Ness until his appointment as Director on 10 July 2020.
3.  Mr Humphry resigned as Company Secretary / Chief Financial Officer 30 September 2020.
4.  Mr Doube was appointed Chief Financial Officer 2 November 2020.
5.  Ms Newstead-Sinclair was appointed Company Secretary 23 September 2020.
6.  Mr Smyth is Alternate Director for Mr Robin Widdup.

Details of Shares Held by Key Management Personnel

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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2020 
Name and Grant dates

Opening 
Balance 

1/1/2020
Resignation 

Unlisted 
Incentive Options/

Performance 
Rights granted as 

compensation

Unlisted 
Options 

transferred/
(expired)

Unlisted  
Options  

exercised

Closing  
Balance as  

at 31/12/20

Vested and 
exercisable  
at 31/12/20

Neil Whitaker  
6 Nov 2019

1,700,000 - - - 1,700,000 -

Boyke Abidin  
28 Jul 2017

442,500 - - - 442,500 -

Rob Hogarth  
28 Jul 2017

295,000 - - - 295,000 -

Greg Foulis  
4 Jun 2018  
31 Aug 2018  
6 Nov 2019

445,000
104,162
500,000

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
(104,162)

-

445,000
-

500,000

-
-

500,000

Robin Widdup  
4 Jun 2018  
17 Sep 2018  
1 Jul 2020

295,000
346,460

-

-
-
-

-
-

83,348

-
(346,460)
(83,348)

295,000
-
-

-
-
-

Richard Ness - - - - - -

Kamen Palatov - - - - - -

Colin McMillan  
28 Jul 2017

767,000 - (177,000) - 590,000 -

Derek Humphry  
12 April 2018

975,318 (975,318)

Matthew Doube  
18 Nov 2020 - 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 -

Claire Newstead-Sinclair - - - - - -

Craig Smyth  
7 June 2018

58,935 - 41,661 (100,596) - -

5,929,375 (975,318) 2,000,000 (51,991) (634,566) 6,267,500 500,000

Details of Options Held by Key Management Personnel 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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Remuneration Report (Audited) continued
The Terms and Conditions of all options and performance rights granted in any year which affected or will affect 
compensations is as follows. 

Item November 2019 November 2019 November 2020

Assessed fair value 
at grant date (AUD)

$0.182 $0.168 $0.29

Number of options / 
performance rights

566,610 1,133,390 2,000,000

Vesting Conditions
Achieving  

project FID

• One half on commencing 
construction at the Awak Mas 
Gold Project

• One half on 3 months 
commercial production at the 
Awak Mas Gold Project

• 40% on receipt of a credit 
approved term sheet

• 20% on completion of additional 
funding requirements

• 40% on first draw down of the  
Senior Debt Facility 

Exercise Price (AUD) $0.35 $0.42 N/A – performance rights

Grant Date 06/11/2019 06/11/2019 18/11/2020

Expiry Date 26/08/2022 26/08/2022 31/12/2023

Item July 2017 June 2018 November 2019 

Assessed fair value 
at grant date (AUD)

$0.21 $0.065 $0.179

Number of options 2,360,000 740,000 500,000

Vesting Conditions

• One third on the later of 28/07/2018 and when the Company is listed 
and the 45 day VWAP of the Shares is AUD 0.525 or greater.

• One third on the later of 28/07/2019 or a Decision to mine at the 
Awak Mas Gold Project.

• One third on the later of 28/07/2020 or Commencement of  
commercial production at the Awak Mas Gold Project 

Fully Vested 

Exercise Price (AUD) $0.61 $0.61 $0.35

Grant Date 28/07/2017 04/06/2018 06/11/2019

Expiry Date 02/08/2021 27/07/2021 27/07/2021

The fair value at grant date is determined using the share 
price and number of options and performance rights 
issued.  The inputs for performance rights granted during 
the year ended 31 December 2020 included:

Item November 2020

a. Consideration $nil

b. Share price at grant date AUD 0.29

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

 NUSANTARA RESOURCES LiMiTED  2020 ANNUAL REPORT 25



Employment agreements
Executives are employed under a open ended 
employment contract which can be terminated with  
notice by either the Company or the executive.

The table below summarises amounts payable to Directors 
(inclusive of superannuation):

 

Non Executive Directors may be reimbursed for expenses 
reasonably incurred in attending to the Group’s affairs

The Managing Director and executives’ termination 
provisions are as follows:

During the reporting period there were no occurrences of 
the following:

• Loans to Key Management Personnel or related entities
• Other transactions with Key Management Personnel or 

related entities
• Strikes against the remuneration report at the most 

recent Annual General Meeting

This concludes the remuneration report, which has  
been audited.

This Directors’ Report, is signed in accordance with a 
resolution of the Board of Directors.

Neil Whitaker
Chief Executive Officer
23 March 2021
JAKARTA

Director
Annual 

Director’s 
fee AUD

Finance 
Committee 
fee AUD

Wages, salaries  
and/or bonuses 

Greg Foulis1 75,000 10,000 AUD 1,500 per day

Robert Hogarth 50,000 - -

Robin Widdup 50,000 - -

Richard Ness 50,000 - -

Kamen Palatov2 50,000 10,000 -

Neil Whitaker2 - - USD 250,000

Boyke Abidin3 - - USD 94,440

Craig Smyth4 - 10,000 AUD 125 per hour

Director Termination
payment

Termination
cause Resignation

Neil Whitaker 12 months None 3 months

Boyke Abidin 12 months None None

Colin McMillan 12 months None 3 months

Derek Humphry  
(resigned 30  
September 2020)

3 months None 3 months

Matthew Doube None None 3 months

Claire Newstead-
Sinclair

None None 1 month

1. Mr Foulis was Executive Chairman from 1 January 2020 to 31 May 2020 when 
the executive role transitioned to the CEO (paid AUD 1,500 per day worked), 
and Non- Executive Director from 1 June 2020 to 31 December 2020 (paid the 
Annual Director’s fee above on a prorate basis for this period). 

2.  Mr Whitaker was employed by a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company for the 
whole of the financial year and was appointed Managing Director 29 May 2020.

3.  Mr Abidin was employed by a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company for the 
whole of the financial year, however resigned as a Director 10 July 2020.

4.  Mr Smyth was appointed to the Finance Committee 16 July 2020 and  
provided Interim Chief Financial Officer services from 1 October 2020 to  
30 November 2020. 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE BY NEIL SMITH TO THE DIRECTORS OF NUSANTARA RESOURCES 
LIMITED 

 

As lead auditor of Nusantara Resources Limited for the year ended 31 December 2020, I declare that, 
to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

1. No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in 
relation to the audit; and 

2. No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 

This declaration is in respect of Nusantara Resources Limited and the entities it controlled during the 
period. 

 

 

Neil Smith  

Director 

 

BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd 

Perth, 23 March 2021 
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to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

1. No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in 
relation to the audit; and 

2. No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 

This declaration is in respect of Nusantara Resources Limited and the entities it controlled during the 
period. 

 

 

Neil Smith  

Director 

 

BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 
 
 
 Note 2020 

USD 
2019 
USD 

Income    
Interest Income  244,281 45,413 
Currency gain  767,003 - 
Other income  69,854 - 
Expenses    
Employee and Directors benefits expense  (1,594,673) (1,087,976) 
Share based remuneration 26 (132,157) (169,515) 
Professional fees and consultants  (1,380,799) (587,271) 
Depreciation and amortisation  (120,411) (119,817) 
Other expenses  (730,472) (479,655) 

Loss before income tax  (2,877,374) (2,398,821) 
Income tax expense  3 - - 

Loss for the year  (2,877,374) (2,398,821) 

Other comprehensive income    

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss    
Foreign currency translation differences 19(b) 1,482,006 (110,556) 

Total Comprehensive Loss for the year   (1,395,368) (2,509,377) 

Loss for the year is attributable to:    

Non-controlling interest  (139,268) - 

Owners of parent  (2,738,106) - 

  (2,877,374) - 

Loss per share    

From continuing operations:    

Basic loss per share (cents) 21 (1.4) (1.4) 

Diluted loss per share (cents) 21 (1.4) (1.4) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The financial statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 31 December 2020

The financial statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 
 

 
 Note 2020 

USD 
2019 
USD 

ASSETS    
CURRENT ASSETS    
Cash and cash equivalents 6 16,503,255 6,557,031 
Other receivables 7 164,500 391,005 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  16,667,754 6,948,036 
    
NON-CURRENT ASSETS     
Property, plant and equipment 11 527,579 80,506 
Exploration, evaluation and development expenditure 12 60,521,507 36,986,515 
Other assets 13 80,828 61,484 
Right-of-use assets 14 - 40,864 
Other receivables 7 1,338,253 - 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS  62,468,167 37,169,369 
TOTAL ASSETS  79,135,921 44,117,405 
    
LIABILITIES    
CURRENT LIABILITIES    
Trade and other payables 15 1,095,047 570,139 
Provisions 16 21,674 37,266 
Lease liabilities  17 - 42,065 
Deferred contractor payments 18 11,647,855 - 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES  12,764,576 649,470 
TOTAL LIABILITIES  12,764,576 649,470 
    
NET ASSETS  66,371,345 43,467,935 
    
EQUITY    
Issued capital 19(a) 56,526,741 47,360,131 
Reserves 19(b) 11,818,584 5,255,416 
Accumulated losses  (11,885,717) (9,147,612) 

  56,459,608 43,467,935 

Non-controlling interest 20 9,911,737 - 

TOTAL EQUITY  66,371,345 43,467,935 

 
 
 
 
 

The financial statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2020

The financial statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 
 

  Issued 
Capital 

Other 
Reserves 

Accumulated 
Losses 

Non-
controlling 
interests Total 

 Note USD USD USD USD USD 

At 1 January 2020  47,360,130 5,255,416 (9,147,611) - 43,467,935 

Loss for the period attributable 
to members of the Company 

   (2,738,106)  (2,738,106) 

Loss attributable to non-
controlling interest 

  
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(139,268) 

 
(139,268) 

Other comprehensive income 19 - 1,482,006 - - 1,482,006 

Total comprehensive loss   - 1,482,006 (2,738,106) (139,268) (1,395,368) 

Shares issued during the period  19 9,212,979 - - - 9,212,979 

Transactions with non-
controlling interest 

20 - 4,949,005 - 
 

10,051,005 15,000,010 
 

Costs associated with the issue 
of shares 

 
19 

 
(46,369) 

 
- - 

 
- (46,369) 

Shares based payment 26 - 132,157 - - 132,157 

Balance as at 31 December 2020  56,526,741 11,818,584 (11,885,717) 9,911,737 66,371,345 
 

  Issued 
Capital 

Other 
Reserves 

Accumulated 
Losses 

Non-
controlling 
interests Total 

 Note USD USD USD USD USD 

At 1 January 2019  40,155,584 5,196,457 (6,748,791) - 38,603,250 

Loss for the period attributable 
to members of the Company 

 - - (2,398,821) - (2,398,821) 

Other comprehensive income 19 - (110,556) - - (110,556) 

Total comprehensive loss   - (110,556) (2,398,821) - (2,509,377) 

Shares issued during the period  19 7,462,323 - - - 7,462,323 

Costs associated with the issue 
of shares 

 
19 

 
(257,776) 

 
- - 

 
- (257,776) 

Shares based payment 26 - 169,515 - - 169,515 

Balance as at 31 December 2019  47,360,131 5,255,416 (9,147,612) - 43,467,935 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The financial statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 December 2020

The financial statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 
 
 Note 2020 

USD 
2019 
USD 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
Interest income  244,281 45,413 
Payments to suppliers and employees  (3,765,271) (2,179,841) 
Proceeds from government grants  68,764 - 

Net cash used in operating activities 23 (3,452,226) (2,134,428) 
    
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets  (585,737) (130,140) 
Payments for exploration, evaluation and development expenditure  (11,487,663) (4,636,709) 

Net cash used in investing activities  (12,703,400) (4,766,849) 
    
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
Proceeds from issue of shares  9,212,979 7,462,323 
Payment for share issue expenses  (46,369) (257,776) 
Proceeds from investment by non-controlling interest  15,000,010 - 

Net cash provided by financing activities  24,166,620 7,204,547 
    
Net increase/(decrease) in cash held  8,640,994 303,270 
Effect of exchange rates 19 1,305,231 (110,556) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  6,557,031 6,364,317 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 6 16,503,255 6,557,031 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

The financial statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 December 2020

The financial statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
NOTE 1:  CORPORATE INFORMATION 

The financial report of Nusantara Resources Limited (“Nusantara” or “the Company”) and its controlled entities (“the 
Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2020 was authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Directors 
on 23 March 2021. 

Nusantara is a listed public company effective from 2 August 2017 limited by shares incorporated in Australia. 

The Directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial report. 

The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Company and the Group are described in the Directors’ 
Report. 

NOTE 2: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

This consolidated financial report includes the consolidated financial statements and notes and financial information 
relating to Nusantara as an individual parent entity (“Parent Entity” or “Company”) for the year ended 
31 December 2020. 

The presentation currency for the Group is United States dollars (USD). The closing exchange rate applied to convert 
Australian dollar (AUD) balances to USD at 31 December 2020 was 0.770 (2019: 0.701) and the average exchange rate 
applied for the year ended 31 December 2020 was 0.691 (2019: 0.695). 

Basis of preparation 

The financial report is a general-purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards, Australian Accounting Interpretations and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001. Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies 
that the AASB has concluded would result in a financial report containing relevant and reliable information about 
transactions, events and conditions. The financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. Material accounting policies adopted in the preparation 
of this financial report are presented below and have been consistently applied unless otherwise stated.  

The financial report covers the consolidated financial statements of Nusantara Resources Limited and its subsidiaries. 

The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis and is based on historical costs basis. 

The financial report is presented in US dollars unless otherwise stated. 

a. Going concern basis of accounting 

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the continuity of 
normal business activity and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course of 
business. 

As at 31 December 2020, the Group current assets exceeded current liabilities by USD 3,903,178 (2019: USD 
6,298,566).  For the year ended 31 December 2020 the Group incurred a loss of USD 2,877,374 (2019: USD 
2,398,821) and experienced net cash outflows from operating and investing activities of USD 16,155,626 (2019: 
USD 6,901,276). 

These conditions indicate a material uncertainty that may cast a significant doubt about the entity’s ability to 
continue as a going concern and, therefore, that it may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities 
in the normal course of business. 

At a Nusantara General Meeting on 29 April 2020 shareholders approved binding agreements with major 
shareholder and strategic partner PT Indika Energy Tbk (Indika Energy), establishing a pathway for Indika Energy 
to invest directly in the Project vehicle PT Masmindo DWI Area and to advance the Project towards a decision to 
mine.  The agreements contemplated Indika Energy investing up to USD 40M into Nusantara’s wholly owned 
subsidiary PT Masmindo DWI Area (Project Company), in two stages and subject to conditions, to secure up to 
40% interest in the Project Company: 

o an initial tranche of USD 15M for 25% ownership which was advanced to the Project Company in May 
2020; 

o a further USD 25M can be invested to acquire an additional 15% ownership subject to conditions 
including a Final Investment Decision. 
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NOTE 2: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

The agreements also contemplate Indika Energy's subsidiary, PT Petrosea Tbk (Petrosea) to be awarded the 
contract for Front End Engineering and Design (FEED) (now >90% complete) on a deferred payment arrangement 
basis, which is not repayable by the Project Company until the earlier of: early termination of the FEED contract; 
the Project Company securing third party finance for the Project development; or 23 June 2021.  

During the year, 10,053,393 listed options were exercised at A$0.30 to raise A$3M, and Indika Energy exercised 
16,693,711 unlisted options at A$0.35 for A$5.8M net of costs.  Further share placements during the year raised 
A$4.1M net of costs. 

 At 31 December 2020 Nusantara Resources Limited group had cash of USD 16.5M and payables of USD 12.7M, 
including USD 11.6M relating to the Petrosea deferred payment arrangement.  

The Group continues to focus on exploration, evaluation and development activities at the Project and is 
currently without an operating cash inflow.  The Group may need to raise additional capital to advance the 
Project and its ongoing working capital requirements.    

The COVID-19 pandemic announced by the World Health Organisation in 2020 is having an ongoing impact on 
World stock markets, currencies and business activity. The timing and extent of the impact and recovery from 
COVID-19 is unknown but it may have an impact on activities and potentially a post balance date impact. 

While no assurances can be given about future ability to finance the Group’s activities, the Directors believe that 
given the quality of the Project, the Company can raise future funds to pursue its business strategy and meet its 
obligations as and when they fall due.   

The Group’s ability to continue as a going concern is dependent upon it maintaining sufficient funds for its 
operations and commitments.  The Directors consider the basis of going concern to be appropriate in summary 
for the following reasons: 

 Having an established pathway to fund near term Project activites through binding agreements with 
major shareholder and strategic partner Indika Energy; 

 Having a proven past ability to raise funds from external sources and invest in the Group, as 
demonstrated by the capital raisings of USD 9.1M (net of costs) during the year; 

 Having adequate cash on hand at 31 December 2020 to repay committed costs;  

 The Board’s flexibility to delay or defer expenditure in accordance with business conditions as part of 
the management of the Group; and 

 The Group's ability to renegotiate the repayment terms of the deferred payment arrangement. 

The Directors are confident that the Group can continue as a going concern and as such are of the opinion that 
the financial report has been appropriately prepared on a going concern basis. 

The financial report does not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded 
asset amounts or to the amounts and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the company not 
continue as a going concern. 

b. Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group and its subsidiaries as at 
31 December 2020.  Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. 
Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has: 

 Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of 
the investee); 

 Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and 

 The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns. 

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all 
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including: 

 The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee; 

 Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; 
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NOTE 2: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights. 

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control. A list of controlled entities is contained in Note 10 to 
the financial statements. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the 
subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of 
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the statement of comprehensive income 
from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary. 

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the equity holders of the 
parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests 
having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to 
bring their accounting policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, 
equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated 
in full on consolidation. 

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity 
transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill), 
liabilities, non-controlling interest and other components of equity while any resultant gain or loss is recognised 
in profit or loss. Any investment retained is recognised at fair value. 

c. Income Tax 

The income tax expense (revenue) for the year comprises current income tax expense (income) and deferred tax 
expense (income).  

Current income tax expense charged to the profit or loss is the tax payable on taxable income calculated using 
applicable income tax rates enacted, or substantially enacted, as at the end of the reporting period. Current tax 
liabilities (assets) are therefore measured at the amounts expected to be paid to (recovered from) the relevant 
taxation authority. Deferred income tax expense reflects movements in deferred tax asset and deferred tax 
liability balances during the year as well unused tax losses. Current and deferred income tax expense (income) is 
charged or credited directly to equity instead of the profit or loss when the tax relates to items that are credited 
or charged directly to equity. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are ascertained based on temporary differences 
arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. 
Deferred tax assets also result where amounts have been fully expensed but future tax deductions are available. 
No deferred income tax will be recognised from the initial recognition of an asset or liability, excluding a business 
combination, where there is no effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is 
settled, based on tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. Their 
measurement also reflects the manner in which management expects to recover or settle the carrying amount of 
the related asset or liability. 

Deferred tax assets relating to temporary differences and unused tax losses are recognised only to the extent 
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the benefits of the deferred tax asset 
can be utilised. Where temporary differences exist in relation to investments in subsidiaries, branches, 
associates, and joint ventures, deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised where the timing of the 
reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is not probable that the reversal will occur in the 
foreseeable future. Current tax assets and liabilities are off set where a legally enforceable right of set-off exists 
and it is intended that net settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and 
liability will occur. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are off set where a legally enforceable right of set-off exists, 
the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the 
same taxable entity or different taxable entities where it is intended that net settlement or simultaneous 
realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur in future periods in which significant 
amounts of deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected to be recovered or settled. 

d. Property, Plant and Equipment 

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses. 
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NOTE 2: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

Plant and equipment 

Plant and equipment are measured on a cost basis.  Indicators of impairment of the carrying amount of plant and 
equipment are reviewed annually by Directors to ensure it is not in excess of the recoverable amount from these 
assets.  The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the expected net cash flows that will be received 
from the asset’s employment and subsequent disposal.  The expected net cash flows have been discounted to 
their present values in determining recoverable amounts.  The cost of property, plant and equipment 
constructed within the Group includes the cost of materials, direct labour, borrowing costs and an appropriate 
proportion of fixed and variable overheads.  Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or 
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated 
with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  All other repairs and 
maintenance are charged to the statement of comprehensive income during the financial period in which they 
are incurred. 

Depreciation 

The depreciable amount of all fixed assets is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the asset’s useful life to the 
Group commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use.  Leasehold improvements and right of use 
assets are depreciated over the shorter of either the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful lives 
of the improvements.  The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets is, Plant and equipment 
17% - 33%. 

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each 
reporting period.  An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the 
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. Gains and losses on disposals are 
determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These gains and losses are included in the 
statement of comprehensive income.  

e. Exploration, Evaluation and Development Expenditure 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred is accumulated in respect of each identifiable area of interest. 
These costs are only carried forward to the extent that they are expected to be recouped through the successful 
development or sale of the area or where activities in the area have not yet reached a stage that permits 
reasonable assessment of the existence of economically recoverable reserves. Accumulated costs in relation to 
an abandoned area are written off in full against profit in the period in which the decision to abandon the area is 
made. When production commences, the accumulated costs for the relevant area of interest are amortised over 
the life of the area according to the rate of depletion of the economically recoverable reserves. A regular review 
is undertaken of each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing to carry forward costs in 
relation to that area of interest. There are currently no material restoration requirements for the area of interest 
held. 

f)  i) Financial Instruments 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or 
equity instrument of another entity. 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value 
through other comprehensive income (OCI), and fair value through profit or loss. 

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow 
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables that 
do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient, the 
Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value 
through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component 
or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price determined 
under AASB 15. 

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through OCI, it needs to 
give rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal amount 
outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level. 
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NOTE 2: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by regulation 
or convention in the marketplace (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the 
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

Subsequent measurement 

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories: 

 Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) 
 Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt instruments) 
 Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon 

derecognition (equity instruments) 
 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

 

The Group currently has only financial assets at amortised cost. 

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) 

This category is the most relevant to the Group. The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of 
the following conditions are met: 

 The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to 
collect contractual cash flows, and 

 The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR) method and are 
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified 
or impaired. 

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost include security deposits and other receivables included under 
current receivable assets. 

Derecognition 

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when: 

 The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or 
 The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to 

pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ 
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or 
(b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but 
has transferred control of the asset. 

ii) Financial Liabilities 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as at amortised cost, or as at fair value through profit or 
loss.  

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, 
net of directly attributable transaction costs. 

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables. 

Subsequent measurement 

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below: 

 Financial liabilities at amortised cost  
 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and financial 
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. 

The Group currently has only financial liabilities at amortised cost. 
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NOTE 2: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by regulation 
or convention in the marketplace (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the 
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

Subsequent measurement 

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories: 

 Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) 
 Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt instruments) 
 Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon 

derecognition (equity instruments) 
 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

 

The Group currently has only financial assets at amortised cost. 

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) 

This category is the most relevant to the Group. The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of 
the following conditions are met: 

 The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to 
collect contractual cash flows, and 

 The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR) method and are 
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified 
or impaired. 

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost include security deposits and other receivables included under 
current receivable assets. 

Derecognition 

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when: 

 The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or 
 The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to 

pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ 
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or 
(b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but 
has transferred control of the asset. 

ii) Financial Liabilities 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as at amortised cost, or as at fair value through profit or 
loss.  

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, 
net of directly attributable transaction costs. 

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables. 

Subsequent measurement 

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below: 

 Financial liabilities at amortised cost  
 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and financial 
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. 

The Group currently has only financial liabilities at amortised cost. 

36 NUSANTARA RESOURCES LiMiTED  2020 ANNUAL REPORT



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NUSANTARA RESOURCES LIMITED  

AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
 

24 

NOTE 2: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost  

After initial recognition, financial liabilities at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as 
through the EIR amortisation process. 
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that 
are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement of profit or loss. 

Derecognition 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. 
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the 
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective 
carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 

g. Impairment of Non-Financial Assets 

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that an asset may be 
impaired. The assessment will include the consideration of external and internal sources of information including 
dividends received from subsidiaries, associates or jointly controlled entities deemed to be out of pre-acquisition 
profits. If such an indication exists, an impairment test is carried out on the asset by comparing the recoverable 
amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use, to the asset’s 
carrying value. Any excess of the asset’s carrying value over its recoverable amount is expensed to the statement 
of comprehensive income. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, 
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.  

h. Foreign Currency Transactions and Balances 

Functional and presentation currency 
The functional currency of each of the Group’s entities is measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which that entity operates. The consolidated financial statements are presented in United States 
dollars. Parent entity’s functional currency is Australia dollars, consistent with last year. Its presentational 
currency remains in United States dollars.  The functional currency of the subsidiaries is United States dollars. 

Transactions and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the 
date of the transaction. Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the year-end exchange rate. Non-
monetary items measured at historical cost continue to be carried at the exchange rate at the date of the 
transaction. Exchange differences arising on the translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement 
of comprehensive income, except where deferred in equity as a qualifying cash flow or net investment hedge. 
Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items are recognised directly in equity to the 
extent that the gain or loss is directly recognised in equity, otherwise the exchange difference is recognised in 
the statement of comprehensive income. 
 

Group companies 

The financial results and position of foreign operations whose functional currency is different from the Group’s 
presentation currency are translated as follows: 

 assets and liabilities are translated at year-end exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period; 

 income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for the period; and 

 equity is translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transaction. 

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations are transferred directly to the Group’s foreign 
currency translation reserve in the statement of financial position. These differences are recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income in the period in which the operation is disposed. 
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NOTE 2: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

i. Employee Benefits 

Provision is made for the Group’s liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by employees to 
reporting date.  Employee benefits that are expected to be settled within one year have been measured at the 
amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled.  Employee benefits payable later than one year have 
been measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made for those benefits.  In 
determining the liability, consideration is given to employee wages increases and the probability that the 
employee may satisfy vesting requirements.  Those cash outflows are discounted using market yields on 
corporate bonds with terms to maturity that match the expected timing of cash flows. 

j. Share-Based Payments 

Employees (including senior executives) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based 
payments, whereby employees render services as consideration for equity instruments (equity-settled 
transactions).  

The cost of equity-settled transactions is determined by the fair value at the date when the grant is made using 
an appropriate valuation model, further details of which are given in Note 26. 

That cost is separately recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, together with a 
corresponding increase in equity (Share Based Payment Reserves), over the period in which the service and, 
where applicable, the performance conditions are fulfilled (the vesting period). The cumulative expense 
recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the extent to 
which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that 
will ultimately vest. The expense or credit in the statement of profit or loss for a period represents the 
movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period. 

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into account when determining the grant date fair 
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate 
of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected 
within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without an associated service 
requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value 
of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or performance 
conditions. 

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance and/or 
service conditions have not been met. Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the transactions 
are treated as vested irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all 
other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied. 

When the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the minimum expense recognised is the grant date fair 
value of the unmodified award, provided the original terms of the award are met. An additional expense, 
measured as at the date of modification, is recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value of 
the share-based payment transaction, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee. Where an award is cancelled 
by the entity or by the counterparty, any remaining element of the fair value of the award is expensed 
immediately through profit or loss. 

The dilutive effect of outstanding options (if any) is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of 
diluted loss per share (further details are given in Note 19). 

k. Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for 
which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result, and that outflow can be reliably measured. 

l. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of 
cash and subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.  
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NOTE 2: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

m. Other Income 

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest rate method, which, for floating rate financial assets, is 
the rate inherent in the instrument.  

n. Trade and Other Payables 

Trade and other payables represent the liability outstanding at the end of the reporting period for goods and 
service received by the Group during the reporting period which remains unpaid. The balance is recognised as a 
current liability with the amount normally paid within 30 days of recognition of the liability.  

o. Goods and Services Tax (GST) and Value Added Tax (VAT) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST or VAT, except where the amount of 
GST or VAT incurred is not recoverable from the Tax Office. In these circumstances the GST or VAT is recognised 
as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. Receivables and payables in 
the statement of financial position are shown inclusive of GST or VAT. Cash flows are presented in the statement 
of cash flows on a gross basis, except for the GST or VAT component of investing and financing activities, which 
are disclosed as operating cash flows. 

p. Comparative Figures 

When required by Accounting Standards, comparative amounts have been adjusted to conform to changes in 
presentation for the current financial year. When the Group applies an accounting policy retrospectively, makes 
a retrospective restatement or reclassifies items in its financial statements, a statement of financial position as at 
the beginning of the earliest comparative period will be disclosed.  The Group has not changed its accounting 
policies other than the adoption of new accounting standards which had no significant impact on the Group. 

q. Key estimates 

i. Impairment 

The Group assesses impairment at the end of each reporting period by evaluating conditions and events 
specific to the Group that may be indicative of impairment triggers. Recoverable amounts of relevant 
assets are reassessed using value in-use calculations which incorporate various key assumptions. These 
assumptions are disclosed in each of the notes to the financial report where applicable. 

ii. Exploration, Evaluation and Development Expenditure 

The Group capitalises expenditure relating to exploration and evaluation where it is considered likely to 
be recoverable or where the activities have not reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment 
of the existence of reserves.    

iii. Share-Based Payment Transactions 

The consolidated entity measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to 
the fair value of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted.  The fair value is 
determined by using either the Binomial or Black-Scholes model taking into account the terms and 
conditions upon which the instruments were granted.  The accounting estimates and assumptions relating 
to equity-settled share-based payments would have no impact on the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next annual reporting period but may impact profit or loss and equity.  Refer to note 
27 for further information. 
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NOTE 3: INCOME TAX EXPENSE  
  2020 

USD 
2019 
USD 

a. The prima facie tax on profit from ordinary activities 
before income tax is reconciled to the income tax as 
follows: 

    

Loss before tax   (2,877,374) (2,398,821) 

Total income tax benefit calculated at 30% (2019: 
30%)  

  
(863,212) (719,646) 

Tax effect of:     

– Non-deductible expenses   863,212 719,646 

   - - 

Deferred tax asset not brought to account   - - 

Income Tax Expense   - - 

The Group has available tax losses carried forward in Indonesia.  These tax losses have not been recognised due to the 
uncertainty of their recoverability in future periods.  Indonesian tax losses can be carried forward for 5 years under the 
Awak Mas Contract of Work (as amended) under prevailing Indonesian tax legislation. Deferred tax assets have not been 
recognised in respect of these items because it is not yet considered probable that future taxable income will be available 
to utilise them. 

 

NOTE 4: INTERESTS OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 
a) Compensation for Key Management Personnel 

2020 
USD 

2019 
USD 

Short term employee benefits 928,577 947,990 

Non-monetary benefits 24,249 - 

Post-Employment benefits 33,819 44,654 

Share Based Transactions – refer Note 26 126,741 138,518 

Total compensation 1,113,386 1,131,162 

b) Other Key Management Personnel Transactions 

There have been no other Key Management Personnel transactions involving equity instruments.  For details of 
other transactions with Key Management Personnel refer to Note 25 Related Parties. 

 

NOTE 5: AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION 
2020 
USD 

2019 
USD 

   

Audit services – BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd 36,991 30,650 

Audit services – Network firms 13,800 13,800 

Non-audit services – Ernst & Young Australia 2,073 10,274 

 52,864 54,724 

During the year ended 31 December 2020 Ernst and Young received fees of USD 2,073 for Employee Share Scheme review 
(2019: 10,274) . 

 

NOTE 6: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
2020 
USD 

2019 
USD 

Cash at bank 16,503,255 6,557,031 

 16,503,255 6,557,031 
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NOTE 7: OTHER RECEIVABLES    2020 2019 
CURRENT   USD USD 
Prepayments   117,718 171,326 

Security Deposits1   36,964 205,327 

Other receivables   9,818 14,352 

   164,500 391,005 

NON-CURRENT     

Security Deposits 2   1,338,253 - 

   1,338,253 - 
1   AUD 30,000 is held as security for a credit card facility and bears interest at 0.01% pa 

AUD 18,006 is held as security for the office lease and bears interest at 0.01% pa 
2   USD 1,338,253 is set aside as security for the reclamation bond and bears interest at 0.658% pa 

 

NOTE 8: SEGMENT INFORMATION 

The Group operates predominantly in the minerals exploration sector, with the principal activity of the Group being the 
exploration and evaluation of gold projects. The Group classifies these activities under a single operating segment; the 
Indonesian exploration, evaluation and development activities. 

Regarding the exploration, evaluation and development operating segment, the Chief Operating Decision Maker 
(determined to be the Board of Directors) receives information on the exploration, evaluation and development 
expenditure incurred. This information is disclosed in note 12 of the financial report. No segment revenues are disclosed 
as the Project is not at a stage where revenues have been earned. Furthermore, no segment costs are disclosed as all 
segment expenditure is capitalised, with the exception of expenditure written off. The non-current assets of the Group, 
attributable to the parent entity, are located in Indonesia. 

 

NOTE 9: PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES 

The following information has been extracted from the records of the parent entity: 

 2020 
USD 

2019 
USD 

Current assets   8,541,758 6,515,140 

Total assets   56,935,104 37,217,508 

Current liabilities   112,375 264,713 

Total liabilities   112,375 264,713 

Issued capital   56,526,741 47,360,131 

Reserves   7,035,486 5,421,322 

Accumulated losses   (5,377,724) (3,690,318) 

Net equity   52,886,934 43,467,935 

Loss of the parent entity   (1,378,945) (1,687,406) 

Total comprehensive loss of the parent entity   (1,378,945) (1,687,406) 

The parent entity has not entered into any contractual commitments for the acquisition of property plant and equipment 
as at 31 December 2020. 
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NOTE 10: CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Nusantara Resources Limited and the 
subsidiaries listed in the following table: 

Controlled Entities consolidated Country of Incorporation Percentage Owned 
  2020 

% 
2019 

% 
PT Masmindo Dwi Area Indonesia 75 100 

Salu Siwa Pty Limited Australia 100 100 

Vista Gold (Barbados) Corp (dissolution initiated 3 
November 2020) 

Barbados 100 100 

Nusantara Holdings Pty Ltd (deregistered 10 
September 2020) 

Australia - 100 

 

NOTE 11: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  

   
2020 
USD 

 
2019 
USD 

Plant and equipment     
At cost   935,122 440,315 

Accumulated depreciation   (407,543) (359,809) 

Total plant and equipment   527,579 80,506 

Reconciliation of the carrying amounts are set out below:     

Plant and equipment     

Carrying amount at beginning of year   60,887 78,984 

Additions   514,426 39,066 

Depreciation   (47,733) (37,544) 

Write off plant and equipment   - - 

Carrying amount of plant and equipment at end of year   527,579 80,506 

 

NOTE 12: EXPLORATION, EVALUATION AND DEVEOPMENT EXPENDITURE 
2020 
USD 

2019 
USD 

Costs carried forward in respect of areas of interest in:     
– exploration, evaluation and development phases at the end of 
year   60,521,507 36,986,515 

Reconciliations     

Carrying amount at the beginning of year   36,986,515 32,936,707 

Expenditure incurred during current year   23,534,992 4,049,808 

Carrying amount at the end of year   60,521,507 36,986,515 
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NOTE 13: OTHER ASSETS 
Intangible asset – computer software   

 2020 
USD 

2019 
USD 

At cost 457,735 406,578 

Accumulated amortisation (376,907) (345,094) 

Total intangible asset 80,828 61,484 

 
Reconciliation of the carrying amounts are set out below: 

  

Intangible asset   
Carrying amount at beginning of year 61,484 52,682 

Additions 51,157 38,333 

Amortisation (31,813) (29,531) 

Carrying amount of intangible asset at 
end of year  

 80,828 61,484 

 

 

  

 

 

NOTE 14: RIGHT OF USE ASSETS 
Office lease   

 2020 
USD 

2019 
USD 

At cost 94,061 94,061 

Accumulated amortisation (94,061) (53,197) 

Total Right of use asset - 40,864 

 
Reconciliation of the carrying amounts are set out below: 

  

Office lease       
Carrying amount at beginning of year 40,864 - 

Additions - 94,061 

Depreciation (40,864) (53,197) 

Carrying amount of right of use asset at 
end of year  

 - 40,864 

    

NOTE 15: TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
2020 
USD 

2019 
USD 

Trade payables and accrued expenses 1,095,047 555,560 

VAT payables - 14,579 

Trade and other payables  1,095,047 570,139 
 
 

NOTE 16: PROVISIONS   
2020 
USD 

2019 
USD 

Provisions – current   21,674 37,266 
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NOTE 17: LEASE LIABILITIES   
2020 
USD 

2019 
USD 

Office lease – current     
Carrying amount at beginning of year  42,065 - 

Lease liabilities arising during year – AASB16 - 94,062 

Lease payments made (43,225) (53,707) 

Interest  1,160 1,710 

Carrying amount at end of year   - 42,065 

 
 

NOTE 18: DEFERRED CONTRACTOR PAYMENT   
2020 
USD 

2019 
USD 

Deferred contractor payment – current   11,647,855 - 
 
Pursuant to the ASX announcement on 23 March 2020, PT Masmindo Dwi Area (Masmindo) executed a USD 11.45M 
contract for Front End Engineering and Design (FEED) with PT Petrosea Tbk (Petrosea) during the period. The 
arrangement included a Deferred Contractor Payment for up to USD 15M, whereby Masmindo is not required to pay 
Petrosea for the FEED until the earlier of: early termination of the FEED contract; Masmindo securing third party finance 
for the Project development; or 23 June 2021.  The Company has established a Share Pledge as security for this deferred 
contractor payment.  The pledge is for shares held by Nusantara’s wholly owned subsidiary Salu Siwa Pty Ltd in 
Masmindo.  The pledge of shares is enforceable if any of the following happen: 

 Subject to any applicable grace periods, the Company (Masmindo) fails to pay an amount when due and 
payable under the FEED contract; 

 The FEED Contract is terminated for the Company’s default; or 
 An event of insolvency occurs in the Company. 

 

NOTE 19: ISSUED CAPITAL AND RESERVES 
  

2020 
USD 

2019 
USD 

a. Issued Capital     

229,273,007 (2019: 190,159,752) fully paid ordinary shares.  The shares 
have no par value.   56,526,741 47,360,131 

Movements in ordinary share capital   Shares     Shares 
At the beginning of the year   190,159,752 153,804,835 
Shares issued during the year   39,113,255 36,354,917 
At the end of the year   229,273,007 190,159,752 

Movements in ordinary share capital 
  

2020 
USD 

2019 
USD 

Balance at beginning of the year   47,360,131 40,155,584 

Shares issued during the year   9,212,979 7,462,323 
Costs associated with shares issued during the year   (46,369) (257,776) 
At the end of the year   56,526,741 47,360,131 
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NOTE 19: ISSUED CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED) 
2020 2019 

Movements in options and performance rights Options 
/Performance 

Rights 

Options 
/Performance 

Rights 
At the beginning of the reporting period 47,070,784 24,351,625 
Incentive Options and performance rights issued during the year 2,000,000 2,200,000 
Incentive Options forfeited during the year - (1,770,000)
Listed Loyalty Options expiring during the year (7,980,914) - 
Unlisted Loyalty options issued during the year 12,957,234 22,289,159 
Listed Options exercised (10,053,393) - 
Unlisted Loyalty options exercised (16,693,711) - 
At the end of the reporting period 27,300,000 47,070,784 

b. Reserves

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation 

NCI Reserve Debt 
Conversion 

Share Based 
Payment 

Total Other 
Reserves 

USD USD USD USD USD 

At 1 January 2019 (674,479) - 5,233,212 637,724 5,196,457 

Currency translation differences (110,556) - - - (110,556) 

Shares based payment - - - 169,515 169,515 

Balance as at 31 December 2019 (785,035) - 5,233,212 807,239 5,255,416 

At 1 January 2020 (785,035) - 5,233,212 807,239 5,255,416 

Currency translation differences 1,482,006 - - - 1,482,006 

Shares based payment - - 132,157 132,157 

Excess consideration received in the 
transaction with non-controlling 
interests reserve within equity 

- 4,949,005 - - 4,949,005 

Balance as at 31 December 2020 696,971   4,949,005 5,233,212 939,396 11,818,584 

Nature and purpose of reserves 

Foreign Currency Translation 
Exchange differences between the functional currency and presentation currency of the parent are recognised in other 
comprehensive income as described in note 2(j) and accumulated in a separate reserve within equity.  The cumulative 
amount is reclassified to profit or loss when the differences are realised. 

Share-Based Payments 

The share-based payments reserve is used to recognise the value of equity-settled share-based payments provided to 
employees, including key management personnel, as part of their remuneration. Refer to Note 24 for further details of 
these plans. 

Debt Conversion 
In 2017 a convertible loan agreement between the Company and its previous parent company was converted into shares 
in the Company to settle loans payable to related body corporates. The fair value of the shares issued was determined 
with reference to the IPO price of AUD 0.42. As the fair value of shares provided as consideration was less than the 
balance of the loans, the difference of USD 5,233,212 was recognised as a reserve. 
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NOTE 19: ISSUED CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED) 
 
Non-Controlling Interest Reserve 
On 31 August 2020, the group disposed of a 25% interest in PT Masmindo Dwi Area through the issue of shares to PT 
Indika Energy Tbk for USD 15,000,010. The group recognised the carrying amount of the non-controlling interest disposed 
of USD 10,051,007 with the excess consideration received of USD 4,948,993 recognised as a reserve. 

c. Options 

On 12 December 2018 the Company announced securities placements subject to shareholder approval.  On 25 January 
2019 the Company completed the securities placements which included issuing one unlisted option for every two shares 
taken up, totalling 22,289,159 unlisted options. 16,693,711 of these options were exercised on 30 November 2020 at AUD 
0.35, and the remaining 5,595,448 unlisted options were forfeited. 

 

NOTE 20: NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST 
     
Set out below is summarised financial information for the subsidiary PT Masmindo Dwi Area that has non-controlling 
interests that are material to the group. The amounts disclosed for PT Masmindo Dwi Area are before inter-company 
eliminations.  
   2020 2019 
Summarised statement of financial position   USD USD 
Current assets   8,125,996 - 

Current liabilities*   (12,652,201) - 

Current net assets   (4,526,205) - 
*included in current liabilities is the deferred payment, refer to note 18 for details.    
Non-current assets   43,219,558 - 

Non-current liabilities    - - 

Non-current net assets   43,219,558  

     
Summarised statement of comprehensive income     
Loss for the period   1,371,396 - 

Total comprehensive loss   1,371,396 - 

Loss attributable to NCI   139,268 - 

     
Summarised cash flows     
Cash flow from operating activities   (4,685,155) - 

Cash flow from investing activities   (7,003,755) - 

Cash flow from financing activities   18,774,420 - 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   7,085,510 - 
 

On 31 August 2020, the group disposed of a 25% interest in PT Masmindo Dwi Area through the issue of shares to PT Indika 
Energy Tbk for US $15,000,010. The group recognized the non-controlling interest of $10,051,007 and increase of equity 
attributable to owners of the parent of USD 4,948,993. The effect on the equity attributable to the owners of Nusantara 
Resources Limited during the year is summarized below: 

    2020 2019 
   USD USD 
Consideration received   15,000,010 - 

Carrying amount of non-controlling interest disposed   (10,051,007) - 

Excess consideration received in the transaction with non-controlling 
interests reserve within equity  

 
4,949,003 

 
- 
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NOTE 20: NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST (CONTINUED) 

There were no transactions with non-controlling interests in 2019. 

 

 

NOTE 21: LOSS PER SHARE 
  2020 

USD 
2019 
USD 

a. Reconciliation of loss   

 Loss for the year (2,877,374) (2,398,821) 

         Loss used in the calculation of basic and dilutive EPS (2,877,374) (2,398,821) 
    
b. Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year used in 

calculating basic Loss per share 
204,260,193 167,809,381 

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year used in 
calculating diluted Loss per share 

204,260,193 185,843,688 

 Weighted average number of dilutive options outstanding - 18,034,307 
c. Anti-dilutive options (not used in dilutive loss per share calculation) 27,300,000 38,248,697 
 
 

 
2020 
Cents 

2019 
Cents 

d. Loss per share (basic) (1.4) (1.4) 

 Loss per share (diluted) (1.4) (1.4) 
 

 

 

 

NOTE 22: COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

(a) In December 2013 the Company entered into an agreement with Vista Gold Corporation to acquire 100% of Salu 
Siwa, PT Masmindo via acquisition of all shares in Vista Gold (Barbados) Inc. In accordance with the terms of the 
agreement, as consideration for the transaction, the Company agreed to grant Vista Gold Corporation a royalty of 
2.0% of Net Smelter Returns on the first 1,250,000 ounces of gold produced from the Awak Mas Gold Project and 
2.5% on the next 1,250,000 ounces of gold produced.  In November 2019,  by paying consideration of USD 100,000 
and 666,667 ordinary shares issued to the holder of the net Smelter Returns Royalty Agreement, the Company 
secured an option to extinguish this royalty.   The option to cancel the first 50% of the Royalty was exercised by 
giving notice prior to 30 April 2020 and paying USD 2.4M; and the Company may cancel the remaining 50% of the 
Royalty by giving notice prior to 30 April 2021 and paying USD 2.5M.   

(b) In order to maintain current rights of tenure to tenements the Group is required to advance the Awak Mas Gold 
Project through to operation and production.  The Awak Mas Gold Project is currently in the Operations and 
Production Period under its Contract of Work (CoW) with the Government of Indonesia and the Group is required to 
pay Dead Rent of USD 57,560 annually (USD 4.00 per hectare on 14,390 hectares of the CoW area) and Land and 
Building Tax of approximately USD 4,000 annually.   

(c) Joint venture partner Indika provided an advance of the Tranche 1 USD 15M investment into Masmindo, the 
subsidiary that owns the Project. In accordance with the agreements approved by Nusantara shareholders on 29 
April 2020, this advance was subsequently converted into a 25% equity interest in Masmindo with the final 
Indonesian regulatory approval received in August 2020. The Agreements provide for Indika to invest a further USD 
25M to secure a further 15% interest in Masmindo.  This investment is conditional amongst other matters, on the 
Company investing a further USD 1.5M into the subsidiary that owns the Project, and the Company extinguishing the 
third-party royalty.   The Term Sheet also provided for USD 30M in further deferred contractor payments through 
Engineering Procurement Contract (EPC). 
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a. Reconciliation of Cash     
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the cash 
flow statement is reconciled to items in the Statement of 
Financial Position as follows: 

    

Cash at bank   16,503,255 6,557,031 

   16,503,255 6,557,031 
b. Reconciliation of Loss from ordinary activities after 

Income Tax to net cash used in operating activities 
    

Loss from ordinary activities after income tax   (2,877,374) (2,398,821) 
Add/(less) non-cash items:     
 Depreciation and amortisation   120,411 61,032 
 Share based transactions   132,157 368,312 
 Foreign exchange   (768,092) - 
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of the effects of purchase 
and disposal of Controlled Entities during the financial year:     
 (Increase)/Decrease in receivables   92,680 89,185 

 Increase in lease liabilities   (42,065) - 

 Increase/(Decrease) in payables   (94,350) (81,570) 

 Increase in provisions   (15,593) 45,442 

 Net cash (used) in operating activities   (3,452,226) (1,860,842) 

c. Non-Cash Financing 

There were nil non-cash financing events during the year. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NOTE 22: COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 

(d) Operating lease commitments – Group as lessee 

The Group has entered into operating leases on certain office premises, vehicles and office equipment.  

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 December 2020 are, as follows: 

 2020 
USD 

2019 
USD 

Within one year 225,747 81,776 
After one year but not more than five years 187,019 5,571 
Total 412,766 87,347 

 

 

NOTE 23: NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT   2020 
USD 

2019 
USD 
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NOTE 24: EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE  

(a) The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic announced by the World Health Organisation in 2020 is ongoing and while it 
has not been directly financially negative for the Group up to 31 December 2020, it is not practicable to estimate the 
potential impact, positive or negative, after the reporting date. The Company has developed a policy and procedures 
to address the health and wellbeing of employees, consultants and contractors in relation to COVID-19.   The 
situation is dependant on measures imposed by the Australian Government and other countries, such as maintaining 
social distancing requirements, quarantine, travel restrictions and any economic stimulus that may be provided. 
 

Other than these matters, no matters have arisen since the end of the financial year to the date of this report of a material 
and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the Directors, to affect significantly the operations of the Group, the results of 
those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in future financial years. 

NOTE 25: RELATED PARTIES 

Transactions between related parties as set out below are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more 
favourable than those available to other parties unless otherwise stated. 

Directors 

The names of each person holding the position of Director of Nusantara during the financial year are: 

Mr Greg Foulis (appointed 29 March 2018)1 Chairman – Director 

Mr Robert Hogarth (appointed 17 February 2017) Non-Executive Director 

Mr Boyke Abidin (resigned as a Director 10 July 2020) Executive Director 

Mr Robin Widdup (appointed 28 February 2018) Non-Executive Director 

Mr Richard Ness (appointed 13 December 2018) Non-Executive Director 

Mr Neil Whitaker (appointed 24 September 2019) 
Mr Kamen Palatov (appointed 10 July 2020) 

Executive Director 
Non-Executive Director 

  
1  Mr Foulis was appointed as a Non-Executive Director and Chairman on 29 March 2018 and acted in this role for the period since 
appointment to 30 April 2019). On 1 May 2019 when former Managing Director Mr Spreadborough resigned, Mr Foulis was appointed 
as Executive Chairman and remained in that role until 29 May 2020 for a transitional period following the appointment of Neil 
Whitaker, Chief Executive Officer, who was appointed Managing Director 29 May 2020.  

Transactions between related parties as set out below are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more 
favourable than those available to other parties unless otherwise stated. 

Details of Key Management Personnel remuneration are set out in Note 4. 

Transactions with related parties: 

Directors 

In 2020 a services agreement was entered into with Lion Manager Pty Ltd for Investor Relations duties fulfilled by Mr 
Hedley Widdup. Under the services agreement Lion Manager Pty Ltd, an entity affiliated with Mr Robin Widdup was paid 
a monthly fee commensurate with rates charged by third parties for the provision of investor relations services. These 
arrangements are ongoing. 

In 2020 a services agreement was entered into with Lion Manager Pty Ltd for interim Chief Financial Officer duties fulfilled 
by Mr Craig Smyth. Under the services agreement Lion Manager Pty Ltd, an entity affiliated with Mr Robin Widdup was 
paid a monthly fee commensurate with rates charged by third parties for the provision of interim Chief Financial Officer 
services.  

Apart from the details disclosed in this note, no Directors entered into a material contract with the Company or the Group 
since the end of the previous financial year. 

Directors’ and Executive Officers’ holdings of shares and options and performance rights 

The aggregate interests of Directors and the Executive Officer of the reporting entity and their Director-related entities in 
shares and share options and performance rights of entities within the Group at year end are set out in the Directors’ 
Report. 

NUSANTARA RESOURCES LIMITED  
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

 

36 

NOTE 24: EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE  

(a) The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic announced by the World Health Organisation in 2020 is ongoing and while it 
has not been directly financially negative for the Group up to 31 December 2020, it is not practicable to estimate the 
potential impact, positive or negative, after the reporting date. The Company has developed a policy and procedures 
to address the health and wellbeing of employees, consultants and contractors in relation to COVID-19.   The 
situation is dependant on measures imposed by the Australian Government and other countries, such as maintaining 
social distancing requirements, quarantine, travel restrictions and any economic stimulus that may be provided. 
 

Other than these matters, no matters have arisen since the end of the financial year to the date of this report of a material 
and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the Directors, to affect significantly the operations of the Group, the results of 
those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in future financial years. 

NOTE 25: RELATED PARTIES 

Transactions between related parties as set out below are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more 
favourable than those available to other parties unless otherwise stated. 

Directors 

The names of each person holding the position of Director of Nusantara during the financial year are: 

Mr Greg Foulis (appointed 29 March 2018)1 Chairman – Director 

Mr Robert Hogarth (appointed 17 February 2017) Non-Executive Director 

Mr Boyke Abidin (resigned as a Director 10 July 2020) Executive Director 

Mr Robin Widdup (appointed 28 February 2018) Non-Executive Director 

Mr Richard Ness (appointed 13 December 2018) Non-Executive Director 

Mr Neil Whitaker (appointed 24 September 2019) 
Mr Kamen Palatov (appointed 10 July 2020) 

Executive Director 
Non-Executive Director 

  
1  Mr Foulis was appointed as a Non-Executive Director and Chairman on 29 March 2018 and acted in this role for the period since 
appointment to 30 April 2019). On 1 May 2019 when former Managing Director Mr Spreadborough resigned, Mr Foulis was appointed 
as Executive Chairman and remained in that role until 29 May 2020 for a transitional period following the appointment of Neil 
Whitaker, Chief Executive Officer, who was appointed Managing Director 29 May 2020.  

Transactions between related parties as set out below are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more 
favourable than those available to other parties unless otherwise stated. 

Details of Key Management Personnel remuneration are set out in Note 4. 

Transactions with related parties: 

Directors 

In 2020 a services agreement was entered into with Lion Manager Pty Ltd for Investor Relations duties fulfilled by Mr 
Hedley Widdup. Under the services agreement Lion Manager Pty Ltd, an entity affiliated with Mr Robin Widdup was paid 
a monthly fee commensurate with rates charged by third parties for the provision of investor relations services. These 
arrangements are ongoing. 

In 2020 a services agreement was entered into with Lion Manager Pty Ltd for interim Chief Financial Officer duties fulfilled 
by Mr Craig Smyth. Under the services agreement Lion Manager Pty Ltd, an entity affiliated with Mr Robin Widdup was 
paid a monthly fee commensurate with rates charged by third parties for the provision of interim Chief Financial Officer 
services.  

Apart from the details disclosed in this note, no Directors entered into a material contract with the Company or the Group 
since the end of the previous financial year. 

Directors’ and Executive Officers’ holdings of shares and options and performance rights 

The aggregate interests of Directors and the Executive Officer of the reporting entity and their Director-related entities in 
shares and share options and performance rights of entities within the Group at year end are set out in the Directors’ 
Report. 

 NUSANTARA RESOURCES LiMiTED  2020 ANNUAL REPORT 49



FINANCIAL STATEMENTSNUSANTARA RESOURCES LIMITED  
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

 

37 

NOTE 24: EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE (CONTINUED)  

Indika and Petrosea 

Subsidiary PT Masmindo Dwi Area (Masmindo) executed a USD 11.45M contract for Front End Engineering and Design 
(FEED) with PT Petrosea Tbk (Petrosea), a subsidiary of major shareholder and strategic partner PT Indika Energy Tbk 
(Indika Energy), on a deferred contractor payment basis (refer to Note 18).  At 31 December 2020 Indika Energy held 
16,871,100 ordinary shares and 10,000,000 unlisted options in Nusantara Resources Ltd (Nusantara) and 25% non-
controlling interest of Masmindo, and Petrosea held 10,000,000 unlisted options in Nusantara. 

 

NOTE 26: SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 
The Company has established the Nusantara Incentive Plan (Incentive Plan) to provide an opportunity to eligible 
participants to participate in the Company’s future growth and provide an incentive to contribute to that growth. The 
Incentive Plan is further designed to assist in attracting and retaining employees. 
The Company must obtain Shareholder approval under the Listing Rules and/or the Corporations Act before the 
participation under the Incentive Plan of any eligible participant who is a Director of or otherwise a related party of the 
Company.  Subject to the Corporations Act and the Listing Rules, the Board may at such times as it determines, issue 
invitations (in such form as the Board decides from time to time) to eligible participants, inviting applications for a grant 
of incentive securities up to the number specified in the invitation (Specified Securities) and specifying an acceptance 
period. 
The number of Specified Securities will be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion, granted free of charge. The 
Board may impose performance criteria for the vesting of Specified Securities.  The Company has applied for and 
obtained confirmation from ASX of waivers from Listing Rule 1.1 (Condition 12) to permit the Company to have options 
on issue with an exercise price of less than 20 cents. Although the exercise price of the options to be issued by the 
Company is not less than 20 cents, the terms of the options provide that the option-holder may elect to use a cashless 
exercise facility (whereby the option holder can elect to receive a lesser number of Shares on the exercise of the options). 
Set out below are the summaries of options granted under the Incentive Plan: 
 

 

  

2020 
Options 

/Performance 
Rights 

2019 
Options 

/Performance 
Rights 

Balance at beginning of the year   6,747,318 6,317,318 
Options issued during the year     
 - exercisable at AUD 0.42 per share   - 1,133,390 
 - exercisable at AUD 0.35 per share   - 1,066,610 
Options exercised during the year   - - 
Options Forfeited during the year   (1,447,318) (1,770,000) 
Performance Rights issued during the reporting period   2,000,000 - 
At the end of the year   7,300,000 6,747,318 

 

The expense recognised for employee services received during the year is shown in the following table: 

 

Share Based Payment Expense   
2020 
USD 

2019 
USD 

Key Management Personnel   126,741 138,518 
Employees   5,416 30,997 
Expense from equity-settled share-based payment transactions   132,157 169,515 
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NOTE 26: SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Fair value of options/performance rights granted  
The assessed fair value at grant date of performance rights granted during the reporting year is set out in the table below.  

Item November 2020  

Assessed fair value at grant 
date (AUD) 

$ 

Number of performance rights 2,000,000 

Vesting Conditions 40% on receipt of a credit approved 
term sheet 

20% on completion of additional 
funding requirements 

40% on first draw down of the 
Senior Debt Facility 

Exercise Price (AUD) N/A – performance rights 

Grant Date 18/11/2020 

Expiry Date 31/12/2023 

The fair value at grant date is determined using the share price on grant date. The inputs for performance rights granted 
during the year ended 31 December 2020 included:  

Item November 2019 

a. Consideration $nil 

b. Share price at  grant date 
(AUD) 

$0.29 

 

NOTE 27: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
The Group’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, local money market instruments, trade and other 
receivables, trade and other payables. The totals for each category of financial instruments, measured in accordance with 
AASB 9 as detailed in the accounting policies to these financial statements, are as follows: 
 Note   2020 

USD 
 

2019 
USD 

 
Financial Assets      
Cash and cash equivalents 6   16,503,255 6,557,031 
Receivables 7   1,502,753 391,005 
Total Financial Assets    18,006,008 6,948,036 

Financial Liabilities      

Trade and other payables 15   1,095,047 570,139 
Deferred payment arrangement 18   11,647,855 - 
Total Financial Liabilities    12,742,903 570,139 
The carrying values of these assets and liabilities approximates the fair values due to their short-term nature. 

 
Financial Risk Management Policies 

The Board of Directors is responsible for, amongst other issues, monitoring and managing financial risk exposures of the 
Group. The Board monitors the Group’s financial risk management policies and exposures and approves financial 
transactions within the scope of its authority. It also reviews the effectiveness of internal controls relating to counterparty 
credit risk, currency risk, financing risk and interest rate risk. 
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NOTE 26: SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) 
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NOTE 26: SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Fair value of options/performance rights granted  
The assessed fair value at grant date of performance rights granted during the reporting year is set out in the table below.  

Item November 2020  

Assessed fair value at grant 
date (AUD) 

$ 

Number of performance rights 2,000,000 

Vesting Conditions 40% on receipt of a credit approved 
term sheet 

20% on completion of additional 
funding requirements 

40% on first draw down of the 
Senior Debt Facility 

Exercise Price (AUD) N/A – performance rights 

Grant Date 18/11/2020 

Expiry Date 31/12/2023 

The fair value at grant date is determined using the share price on grant date. The inputs for performance rights granted 
during the year ended 31 December 2020 included:  

Item November 2019 

a. Consideration $nil 

b. Share price at  grant date 
(AUD) 

$0.29 

 

NOTE 27: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
The Group’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, local money market instruments, trade and other 
receivables, trade and other payables. The totals for each category of financial instruments, measured in accordance with 
AASB 9 as detailed in the accounting policies to these financial statements, are as follows: 
 Note   2020 

USD 
 

2019 
USD 

 
Financial Assets      
Cash and cash equivalents 6   16,503,255 6,557,031 
Receivables 7   1,502,753 391,005 
Total Financial Assets    18,006,008 6,948,036 

Financial Liabilities      

Trade and other payables 15   1,095,047 570,139 
Deferred payment arrangement 18   11,647,855 - 
Total Financial Liabilities    12,742,903 570,139 
The carrying values of these assets and liabilities approximates the fair values due to their short-term nature. 

 
Financial Risk Management Policies 

The Board of Directors is responsible for, amongst other issues, monitoring and managing financial risk exposures of the 
Group. The Board monitors the Group’s financial risk management policies and exposures and approves financial 
transactions within the scope of its authority. It also reviews the effectiveness of internal controls relating to counterparty 
credit risk, currency risk, financing risk and interest rate risk. 
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NOTE 27: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

Foreign currency risk 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because of changes in 
foreign exchange rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates relates primarily to the 
Group’s operating activities (when revenue or expense is denominated in a currency other than the functional currency). 

The Group manages its exposure to fluctuations on the translation into United States dollars by holding cash in several 
currencies determined based on the expected cash flow requirements. 

Cash and cash equivalents by currency    2020 
USD 

2019 
USD 

Australian dollars    7,350,774 504,962 
Indonesian rupiah    729,845 121,925 
United States dollars    8,422,636 5,930,144 
    16,503,255 6,557,031 
 

Interest Rate Risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to 
the Group’s long-term debt obligations with floating interest rates. 

The weighted average interest rate of cash and cash equivalents is 0.9% (31 December 2019: 0.9%).  Receivables and 
Trade and other payables are non-interest bearing.  At 31 December 2020 the Group’s interest rate risk is not considered 
material. 

Credit Risk 

Credit risk represents the loss that would be recognised if counterparties failed to perform as contracted. The Group’s 
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to each class of financial asset is the carrying amount of those assets as 
indicated in the Statement of Financial Position. 

The Group has in place policies that aim to ensure that counterparties and cash transactions are limited to high credit 
quality financial institutions and that the amount of credit exposure to one financial institution is limited as far as is 
considered commercially appropriate. 

Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company does not have sufficient funds to pay its debts as and when they become due 
and payable. The Company currently does not have major funding in place. However, the Company continuously monitors 
forecast and actual cash flows and the maturity profiles of financial assets and financial liabilities to manage its liquidity 
risk. 

The Company’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank 
loans if and when required with respect to the development of the Awak Mas Gold Project. 

Cash at bank and on hand, as set out in Note 6, is available for use by the Company without restrictions. 

 

NOTE 28: COMPANY DETAILS  

Nusantara Resources Limited is a company domiciled in Australia and its registered office is located at: 
C/- Leydin Freyer 
Level 4, 100 Albert Road 
South Melbourne 
Victoria 3205 Australia 
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Director’s Declaration

In accordance with a resolution of the Directors of Nusantara Resources Limited, I state that:

In the opinion of the Directors:

(a)  the financial statements and notes of the consolidated entity are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 
including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 31 December 2020 and of its 
performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii)  complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations), the 
Corporations Regulations 2001, and other mandatory professional reporting requirements; and

(b)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become 
due and payable.

On behalf of the Board.

Neil Whitaker
Chief Executive Officer
Dated 23 March 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

 

To the members of Nusantara Resources Limited 

 

 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 

Opinion  

We have audited the financial report of Nusantara Resources Limited (the Company) and its 
subsidiaries (the Group), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 
31 December 2020, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement 
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes 
to the financial report, including a summary of significant accounting policies and the directors’ 
declaration. 

In our opinion the accompanying financial report of the Group, is in accordance with the Corporations 
Act 2001, including:  

(i) Giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 31 December 2020 and of its 
financial performance for the year ended on that date; and  

(ii) Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.  

Basis for opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial 
Report section of our report.  We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Corporations 
Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s 
APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) 
that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia.  We have also fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been 
given to the directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the 
time of this auditor’s report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion.  
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those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial 
Report section of our report.  We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Corporations 
Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s 
APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) 
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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Material uncertainty related to going concern  

We draw attention to Note 1 in the financial report which describes the events and/or conditions which 
give rise to the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern and therefore the group may be unable to realise its assets and 
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this 
matter.  

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial report of the current period.  These matters were addressed in the context of 
our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide 
a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described in the Material uncertainty 
related to going concern section, we have determined the matters described below to be the key audit 
matters to be communicated in our report. 

 

Accounting for Capitalised Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure 

Key audit matter  How the matter was addressed in our audit 

At 31 December 2020, the Group held a significant 
carrying value of exploration and evaluation 
expenditure as disclosed in Note 12. 

As the carrying value of these exploration and 
evaluation expenditure represents a significant 
asset of the Group, we considered it necessary to 
assess whether any factors of circumstances exist 
to suggest that the carrying amount of this asset 
may exceed its recoverable amount.  

Judgement is applied in determining the treatment 
of exploration and evaluation expenditure in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standard 
AASB 6 Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral 
Resources. In particular: 

• Whether the conditions for capitalisation are 
satisfied; 

• Which elements of exploration and evaluation 
expenditures qualify for recognition;  

Whether facts and circumstances indicate that the 
exploration and expenditure assets should be 
tested for impairment. 

Our procedures included, but were not limited 
to:  

• Assessing whether the Company’s rights to 
tenure of the Awak Mas Gold Project 
remained current at balance date;   

• Considering the status of ongoing 
exploration and evaluation programmes in 
the respective area of interest by holding 
discussions with management, reviewing the 
Group’s exploration and evaluation budgets, 
ASX announcements and director’s minutes;  

• Considering whether any other facts or 
circumstances existed to suggest whether 
impairment triggers were present; 

• Verifying, on a sample basis, exploration and 
evaluation expenditure capitalised during 
the year for compliance with the recognition 
and measurement criteria of AASB 6; and  

• Assessing the adequacy of the related 
disclosures in Note 2(e), Note 2(q) and Note 
12 to the Financial Report. 
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Other information  

The directors are responsible for the other information.  The other information comprises the 
information in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 31 December 2020, but does not include 
the financial report and the auditor’s report thereon.  

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact.  We have nothing to report in this regard.  

Responsibilities of the directors for the Financial Report  

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the group to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website (http://www.auasb.gov.au/Home.aspx) at:  

https://www.auasb.gov.au/admin/file/content102/c3/ar1_2020.pdf 

This description forms part of our auditor’s report. 
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Report on the Remuneration Report 

Opinion on the Remuneration Report  

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 6 to 12 of the directors’ report for the 
year ended 31 December 2020. 

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Nusantara Resources Limited, for the year ended 31 
December 2020, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  

Responsibilities 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the 
Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  Our responsibility 
is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards. 

 

 

BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd 

 

Neil Smith 

Director 

 

Perth, 23 March 2021 
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Report on the Remuneration Report

Opinion on the Remuneration Report

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 16 to 26 of the directors’ report for the  

year ended 31 December 2020.

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Nusantara Resources Limited, for the year ended  

31 December 2020, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Responsibilities

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the  

Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility  

is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with 

Australian Auditing Standards.

BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd

Neil Smith
Director

Perth, 23 March 2021
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Rank Shareholder Number of Shares %

1 Lion Selection Group Limited 49,904,775 21.77

2 PT Indika Mineral Investindo 43,887,422 19.14

3 Federation Mining PTY LTD 28,288,639 12.34

4 PT Indika Energy TBK/C 16,871,100 7.36

5 Retzos Executive PTY LTD <Retzos Executive S/Fund> 7,050,000 3.07

6 HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 4,799,331 2.09

7 Citycorp Nominees Pty Limited 4,561,385 1.99

8 Silver Pine Capital Limited 3,571,428 1.56

9 Tuetex Pty Limited <Bradley Investment A/C> 2,756,246 1.20

10 Pula Holdings Pty Ltd <Herath Super Fund A/C> 2,588,888 1.13

11 Mr Richard Thomas Hayward Daly + Mrs Sarah Kay Daly <The Daly Family S/F RTH A/C> 2,350,654 1.03

12 Mr Robin Anthony Widdup + Mrs Janet Widdup <Widdup Super Fund A/C> 1,884,111 0.82

13 Neweconomy com au Nominees Pty Limited <900 Account> 1,822,328 0.79

14 Pasias Holdings Pty Ltd 1,750,000 0.76

15 Mr Ross Lindsay McMillan 1,588,235 0.69

16 JP Morgan Nominees Australia Pty Limited 1,568,217 0.68

17 Mr John Joseph Ryan 1,485,526 0.65

18 Falcongold PTY LTD 1,250,000 0.55

19 Sam Goulopoulos Pty Ltd <S Goulopolous F/Super A/C> 1,200,000 0.52

20 DBPC Group Finance Pty LTD <DBPC Group Finance A/C> 1,190,477 0.52

180,368,759 78.67

Range Number of Shareholders Number of Shares

1 – 1,000 125 51,835

1,001 – 5,000 267 832,027

5,001 –10,000 137 1,127,366

10,001 – 100,000 329 11,072,332

100,001 and over 131 216,189,447

Total Shareholders 989 229,273,007

Number of ordinary shareholders with less than a marketable parcel was 187.

Twenty Largest Shareholders of Ordinary Shares

Distribution of Ordinary Fully Paid Shareholders

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION AS AT 07 APRIL 2021

Range Number of Shares %

PT Indika Mineral Investindo 63,631,900 27.75

Lion Selection Group Limited 49,904,775 21.77

Federation Mining PTY LTD 28,288,639 12.34

Substantial Shareholders
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On-Market Buy Back
There are no current on-market buy back in place

Voting Rights
The voting rights attached to the ordinary shares are 
governed by the constitution. On a show of hands, every 
person who is a Member or representative of a Member, 
shall have one vote and on poll, every Member present 
in person, or by proxy, or by attorney, or duly authorised 
representative, shall have one vote for each share held. 
None of the options have any voting rights.

Unlisted Options
These options are unlisted. Until conversion they  
confer no voting rights to subscribe for new securities in 
the Company.

Unlisted options are a separate class of security that may 
be converted into Company shares once they have vested 
and in accordance with specified criteria.

Share Price
The closing share price on the Australian securities 
Exchange on 31 December 2020 was AUD0.285.

Shareholder Enquiries
Enquiries relating to shareholding, tax file number and 
notification of change of address should be directed to:

Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited  
452 Johnson Street, Abbotsford, Victoria, 3067 

Website: www.computershare.com.au  
Telephone: 1300 850 505 (within Australia)
 +61 (0)3 9415 4000
Facsimile: +61 (0)3 9473 2500

Range Option Holders Number ofOptions

100,001 and over 12 27,300,000

Distribution of Unlisted Option Holders

Option Holder Exercisable at AUD0.45
Expiring 1 July 2022

Exercisable at AUD0.45
Expiring 1 July 2024

Exercisable at AUD0.61
Expiring 1 December 2022

PT Indika Energy 10,000,000

PT Petrosea 3,000,000 7,000,000

Total 3,000,000 7,000,000 10,000,000

Option Holder

Exercisable at  
AUD0.35

Expiring 11 July
2022

Exercisable at
AUD0.35
Expiring  

26 August 2022

Exercisable at 
AUD0.61

Expiring 27 &  
28 July 2021

Performance  
Rights Expiring  
23 December 

2022

Exercisable at
AUD0.42
Expiring  

26 August 2022

Holders less than 20% 500,000 566,610 3,100,000 2,000,000 1,133,390

Total 500,000 566,610 3,100,000 2,000,000 1,133,390

Holder of more than 20% of Unlisted Options

Holder of more than 20% of Unlisted Options
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Board of Directors

Greg Foulis Chairman 
 Non-Executive Director 

Neil Whitaker CEO 
 Managing Director 

Rob Hogarth Non-Executive Director 

Richard Ness Non-Executive Director

Robin Widdup Non-Executive Director

Kamen Palatov Non-Executive Director

Company Secretary

Claire Newstead-Sinclair

Registered Office

Level 4, 100 Albert Road
South Melbourne, Victoria, 3205

Telephone: +61 (0)3 9692 7222
Email: info@nusantararesources.com

 

Bankers

HSBC Bank Australia

Share Registry

Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited  
452 Johnson Street, Abbotsford, Victoria, 3067

Telephone: 1300 850 505 (within Australia)
 +61 (0)3 9415 4000
Facsimile: +61 (0)3 9473 2500

Securities Exchange Listing

Shares in Nusantara Resources Limited are quoted  
on the Australian Security Exchange

ASX Code: NUS
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Nusantara Resources Limited  
ACN 150 791 290

Ground Floor, 20 Kings Park Road, West Perth, WA 6005
T: +62 21 2988 0425

www.nusantararesources.com

Caring n Integrity n Teamwork n Accountability n Excellence


